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STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The appellants were indicted December 13, 1956, on

twenty-one counts of claimed violations under 18 U.S.C.

Sec. 152^ in connection with the bankruptcy of Edwards
Shaver Departments, Incorporated (R. 3-14). The num-
ber of counts resulted largely from a three-fold state-

ment of offenses connected with six separate transfers

of funds from Edwards Shaver Departments, Incorpo-

rated, totaling $36,500.00 and the transfer of a cash

register and an adding machine. The appellants, by ver-

dict of the jury (R. 29-32) were found not guilty on

twelve counts, guilty on eight counts, and appellant Gil-

bert Edwards was found guilty of one additional count

(R. 32). Of the nine counts last referred to charging

fraudulent acts, six charged concealment of specific

sums transferred from Edwards Shaver Departments,

Incorporated; one count charged concealment of a

^See Appendix C.

[1]



cash register; one count charged the transfer of the

same cash register; and the final count charged con-

cealment by Gilbert Edwards only of an adding ma-

chine (R. 3-14). Appellants filed motion for judgment

of acquittal and alternatively for a new trial (R. 33-

37) which motions the trial court denied." Judgment,

sentence and coimnitment were entered by the trial

court on the 24th day of March, 1958 (R. 38,42). Ap-

peal from this final judgment to this court is pursuant

to 28 U.S.C. 1291 and 18 U.S.C. 3231. Appellants each

filed Notice of Appeal on the 27th day of March, 1958

(R. 45-48) pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Pro-

cedure 37, and have perfected this appeal pursuant to

Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 39 and the rules

of this court."''

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
A. History of Companies

Max T. Edwards is a Canadian subject, one of four

brothers, Bert, Paul, Gilbert, and Max (R. 444, 503).

Prior to 1946 and at all times since he was the owner

and manager of a retail shaver business in Vancouver,

B.C., known as Edwards, Ltd. (R. 444). In 1949, Max
and Bert Edwards purchased a Vancouver, B.C., retail

cutlery business known as Lewis Cutlery, Ltd., but this

joint ownership continued only two or three years (R.

450-451). Lewis Cutlery, Ltd., has continued to be op-

^ These motions were denied March 24, 1958, as shown by the docket

entries ( R. 62 ) . The docket entries, however, are abbreviated and were

not printed in full (R. 49) although designated as part of the record

on appeal on April 22, 1958. This designation was sent by the District

Clerk to the United States Court of Appeals at San Francisco (R. 59-

64, Item 37).

•*The writer of this brief first entered an appearance in this case as

counsel of record after appeal taken (R. 58).



erated at all times since by Max T. Edwards (R. 444-

445).

lu 1946 Max T. Edwards coninienced his own retail

shaver business in Seattle, Washington, under the name
of Edwards Electric Sales & Service Company (R. 340-

341). This business was later incorporated July 25,

1946 (PL Ex. 5), he becoming the sole stockholder (R.

126). Thereafter, considerable effort was expended by

him in building up the business (R. 684). In 1948 the

company added a retail store in Portland, Oregon (R.

448). Meanwhile, in 1946 Max T. Edwards organized

and owned (R. 126) a California corporation under
the name of Edwards Electric, Inc., to operate retail

shaver stores in California (R. 448). In the latter part

of 1946 this corporation opened a store in Los Angeles

and shortly thereafter one in San Francisco (R. 449).

In 1949 the companies began to expand by opening up
concessions in department stores (R. 451-453). It was
about this time that Gilbert Edwards was employed by
the business as sales manager of the concessions at a

salary of $350 per month, plus expenses (R. 702).

Shortly thereafter the name of the Washington corpo-

ration was changed to Edwards Shaver Departments,

Incorporated (PL Ex. 5). Concessions were opened up
in Los Angeles, San Francisco, Portland and Seattle

(R. 100, 452-453, 703; Ex. A-5). By the end of 1951

there were concessions in the Broadway Department
Stores in Los Angeles, Macy's in San Francisco, Olds

& King in Portland, and the Bon Marche in Seattle (R.

100, 452-453). The concession agreements, generally,

required stores to be closed as soon as possible (R. 453)

but not immediately (R. 453) in order that store cus-



toiners might be saved for the concessions and sent to

the department store concessions (R. 453, 720). Ac-

cordingly, in time, stores were closed in Los Angeles,

San Francisco, and Portland (R. 707, 452). However,

the Seattle store was permitted to remain open by the

Bon Marche for a time (R. 776-777) and was, in fact,

open at the time of the events hereinafter referred to,

although in process of being closed (R. 324-325, 329,

334,529-530).

Sales volume in the department store concessions con-

tinued to increase and the store concessions were gen-

erally profiitable (R. 278). The stores, however, did not

prove to be profitable, but were, in fact, a serious drain

because of their losses (R. 278-279). Because, however,

the concessions were profitable, expansion of conces-

sions was contemplated. In fact, in 1950 and 1951 Max
T. Edwards was studying the matter of opening up new

concessions (R. 461-462) pursuant to invitation from

Macy's in the various Macy stores throughout the coun-

try (R. 454-460). Financial limitations, however, pre-

vented this expansion (R. 705). The matter of shaver

concession expansion into Macy Department Stores was

again reopened toward the end of 1952 (12-11-52) (R.

464-468, 705) (Exs. A-13 and A-14), but again the pro-

gram was not completed because of lack of finances.

However, in 1952 additional profitable concessions were

opened up for the retail sale of foreign-made cutlery in

department stores in Los Angeles, San Francisco and

Seattle (R. 464).

In addition, consideration was given to expansion

eastward (R. 482, 603). In fact, early in 1952 (R. 666)

consideration was given to incorporating in anticipa-



tion of expansion in the East (R. 482, 655-656). How-
ever, it was not until February 9, 1953, that two

additional corporations were organized, Shaveraids,

Inc. (PI. Ex. 26) and Cutlaire, Inc. (PI. Ex. 25), Ne-

vada corporations, being so organized by Grilbert Ed-

wards in Seattle (R. 558-559, 671) on the advice of

legal counsel for the corporation (R. 483, 603, 653-656).

It was expected that these corporations would go into

eastern department store concessions or the jobbing

and wholesaling end of the shaver and cutlery business

(R, 655-656), the share interest of the brothers to be

later determined (R. 674). This, however, did not ma-

terialize because of the events hereinafter related. Max
T. Edwards believed the potential or future was good

(R. 556) and expansion was planned (R. 511, 512, 514,

692,759).

B. Financial Condition of Companies and Their Financ-

ing

The Washington-California corporations here in-

volved were under-capitalized (R. 322, 715) and, there-

fore, had to rely heavily on economies, on credit from

creditors and on borrowings. The concessions were gen-

erally profitable (PL Ex. 13, 39; R. 278, 284-288, 313-

316, 331, 686-687 ; Ex. A-5, A-6, A-7, A-8) but the stores

were not (R. 449). After 1950 Max T. Edwards, al-

though he devoted substantial time to the business (R.

470), took no salary from the Washington corporation,

just reimbursement of expenses (R. 279, 599, 630, 472,

632-633). His income was from his Canadian stores (R.

628). Gilbert Edwards' salary was a modest one of $350

a month and expenses (R. 290, 292, 342-343, 348, 774-

775).
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The suppliers (long term) (R. 716-717) such as Rem-

ington, Schick, Sunbeam, Graybar, General Electric,

Marshall-Wells, Hall & Company, Home & Cox, and

others, extended liberal credit (R. 104, 124-125, 475).

The largest creditor, Marshall-Wells (R. 106) in 1952

agreed to a long-term repayment arrangement (R. 106,

475, 768; Ex. A-15). Remington, however, stopped giv-

ing credit (R. 772). Generally, credit was extended with

Christmas dating so that creditors were generally paid

shortly after the Christmas season (R. 259-260). The

companies were slow pay always (R. 322, 474, 475, 715).

They received collection letters from creditors at all

times (R. 547, 735), but managed to keep the creditors

satisfied (R. 306, 321, 716) until the latter part of Feb-

ruary, 1953 (Br. p. 9, infra). This situation about slow

pay, collection letters, and liberal extension of credit

had always been true in 1951 and 1952 (R. 546-547, 734-

735), and Max T. Edwards didn't consider these a seri-

ous threat (R. 547). Gilbert Edwards didn't consider

the companies' situation any different than in 1950,

1951 or 1952 (R. 744). The business was growing (R.

747).

The third and major source of financing was from

the proceeds of loans. This helped build volume (R.

716). Bert and Gilbert Edwards lent the companies

sums on at least four different occasions, each borrow-

ing the money from other sources on his own collateral

in order to provide the funds needed by the Max T. Ed-

wards companies (R. 486-487, 717, 774, 779-780).

The principal source of loans, however, came from

Max T. Edwards and his Canadian companies (R. 292,

485, 486-487). He borrowed heavily from Canadian



banks (who were not authorized to lend money to the

Washington-California corporations) (R. 673) and Max
T. Edwards would then lend the proceeds of these loans

to the Washington and California corporations (R. 294,

Ex. A-4; R. 485, 715) and was owed substantial sums

on that account. Max T. Edwards made no charge to

the corporations for the interest (R. 292) which he, in

turn, had to pay to the Canadian banks, so in effect, the

companies got the benefit of those loans interest-free

(R. 292-293). At 6%, this amounted to $1,594.44 in 1952

and $150.16 in 1953 (R. 293). Were it not for the loans

made by Max T. Edwards, the companies could not have

continued to operate (R. 292, 307).

The loans from the Canadian banks to Max T. Ed-

wards were evidenced by demand notes signed by Max
T. Edwards and his wife and by his Canadian com-

panies (R. 484-485, 506, PI. Ex. 17; Exs. A-4, A-30; R.

623). To obtain these loans, Max T. Edwards had

pledged his life insurance and Mr. and Mrs. Max T.

Edwards had mortgaged their home and automobiles

as security (R. 486-487).

In the latter part of 1952 the Canadian banks called

their loans (R. 488, PI. Ex. 17). They were to be paid

about Christmas time (R. 471, 649, 622; Exs. A-17,

A-30) . The Washington-California corporations at that

time were heavily indebted to Max T. Edwards for loans

made by him to the corporations from the proceeds of

the Canadian bank loans (R. 120-121, 484-486).

The corporations were entitled to various sums pay-

able in January, 1953, on account of the business done

by them in the concessions. To obtain funds with which

to repay Max T. Edwards so that he in turn could repay
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the Canadian bank loans, the corporations obtained ad-

vances on account from the department store conces-

sions in various amounts (substantial sums remaining

owing, however) (R. 176, 183, 185, 192, 205, 208-209,

226, 114; PI. Exs. 17, 20, 21), a procedure customary

with concessionaires (R. 185), the accounts of the cor-

porations being charged accordingly (R. 192, 292, 296,

299; Ex. A-4; R. 301, 490, 491; Exs. A-17, A-18).

The Washington-California corporations then turned

these advances over to Max T. Edwards, whose account

was charged therewith (R. 120, 121, 122). He, in turn,

took the funds so derived and converted them into Ca-

nadian funds in order to transmit to Canada to pay

Canadian banks (it being cheaper to do so) (R. 718 ; PL
Ex. 13, 14) and used them to pay off the Canadian bank

loans (PI. Ex. 31, 32, 33, 28, 29, 30, 34; R. 533-534; Exs.

A-17, A-18) in December, 1952, and January, 1953;

also to pay life insurance premiums on his life insur-

ance, and to assist his wife in a small way in making an

investment in real estate in Vancouver (R. 534, 523;

Exs. A-23, A-24). [This real estate did not belong to

Max T. Edwards (R. 621) except for a $5,000 equity

(R. 621). He executed a $10,000 guaranty in that con-

nection (R. 604, 621; Exs. A-19, A-20, A-21)]. After

the completion of this program, Edwards Shaver De-

partments, Incorporated, was still indebted to Max T.

Edwards (R. 614). This would have been even greater

if loan interest had been charged or salary charged (R.

292-294). In addition, the Canadian companies, Ed-

wards, Ltd., and Lewis Cutlery, Ltd., had been doing

business with the Washington corporation over a period

of years on a contra account basis and were owed $5,000
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in the case of Edwards, Ltd. (R. 699) (Max T. Ed-

wards estimated) (R. 529) and $2,029.25 in the case of

Lewis Cutlery, Ltd., as of January 31, 1953 (R. 528).

The handling of these finances did not involve an in-

terruption in the continuance of the business of the

Washington-California corporations. On the contrary,

in January and February of 1953, payments were made

to various creditors (R. 349, 350; Ex. A-3; R. 347, 348,

735-737), additional merchandise was purchased (R.

738), and Max T. Edwards (who alone handled the

finances) (R. 783) continued to lend money to the cor-

porations; e.g., a loan of $2,000 on February 9, 1953

(R. 735, 132), and $1,000 on February 13, 1953 (R. 772).

During December, 1952, and January, 1953, no creditor

had contacted Max T. Edwards about payment of its

account (R. 507, 547).

C. Events Preceding Receivership

However, the financial condition of the companies had

worsened in 1952 over what it had been in 1951 (R. 312,

313) even if we exclude from consideration the valuable

concession contracts, goodwill and experience (R. 554,

693-694). The Seattle store was losing money and an

effort to sell it in September, 1952, had proved fruit-

less (R. 477-478). Max T. Edwards had instructed Gil-

bert Edwards to close the Seattle store as soon as pos-

sible after the Christmas season (R. 477-478). How-

ever, the concessions were operating and were profit-

able (R. 278, 284-288, 313-316, 331, 686-687). About

February 10, 1953, Max T. Edwards and his British

Columbia attorney, Mr. Sharp, discussed informally

with creditors the matter of the pajrment of accounts
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(R. 680). It was evident that additional time would be

needed to meet the claims of creditors and so, on Feb-

ruary 17, 1953, a letter formulated by Attorney Sharp

was sent out to creditors requesting additional time (R.

632-633, 657-658; Ex. A-33). Before that letter was

received by the Hall Company, a representative of that

company came to Seattle about February 26, 1953, to

discuss the payment of the Hall Company account (R.

631). He was quite cooperative and friendly (R. 660).

As a result of this discussion, a meeting of creditors was

arranged for February 27, 1953 (R. 508, 509) to dis-

cuss the payment of the accounts owing. At this meet-

ing, various suggestions were made as to how creditors

should be paid (R. 543, 663). Attorney Sharp suggested

making a settlement of 25% on the dollar (R. 539).

Mr. Burch suggested that additional advances be ob-

tained from the department stores to pay creditors (R.

243, 244-245). The meeting was friendly (R. 325, 326,

511). No thi-eats of action were made by any creditor

(R. 540, 660). No suggestion of bankruptcy was made

(R. 511, 734). Indeed, at that meeting. Max T. Edwards,

together with Gilbert Edwards, o:ffered to continue with-

out salary so as to permit the full payment of creditors

from the proceeds of the business (R. 540-541, 684, 539).

There was no suggestion by anyone at or prior to the

February 27 meeting that operations be terminated. No

threats of legal action were brought to the attention of

Attorney Sharp (R. 679, 696) and he had not been con-

sulted by either of the Edwards with reference to the

possibility of bankruptcy or of thi'eats of legal action

(R. 668, 679, 734). There was some discussion at the

February 27 meeting as to whether a creditor known as
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Home & Cox could be persuaded to hold off any action

to collect its account (R. 267, 326). The Hall Co. repre-

sentative thought he could hold Home & Cox in line (R.

267, 326). At that meeting, Mr. Ester, the company-

accountant, was asked to prepare a financial statement

showing the condition of the business as of the end of

1952 and a second meeting was to be held after that re-

port was prepared.

D. State Court Receivership and Bankruptcy

However, on February 27, 1953, suit was instituted

by an assignee of Home & Cox against the California

corporation (PI. Ex. 22, Ex. A-26) and its property

was attached (R. 514, 515; Ex. A-26). Max T. Edwards

considered this as a ''bolt out of the blue" (R. 517, 5M,

548,549, 662). Accordingly, when the second meeting of

creditors was held on March 9 (R. 274, 288, 327-328, 329,

334), the creditors' attitude had changed (R. 328) ; they

were concerned and refused to make an arrangement to

continue with the operation of the corporation (R. 522,

524, 665) which Max T. Edwards wished to continue

(R. 667). The attachment caused the concession agree-

ments in California to be cancelled according to conces-

sion contract (R. 518-519, 521; Exs. A-1, A-27). Suit

was brought against the Washington corporation and

State Court Receiver appointed on March 11, 1953 (R.

98, 168, 249, 351). He took possession of the corporate

books and records of Washington and California cor-

porations (R. 298, 613, 731; PI. Ex. 24). An involun-

tary Petition in Bankruptcy was filed against the Wash-

ington corporation on May 7, 1953 (R. 168), and the

corporation was adjudicated bankrupt May 25, 1953
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(R. 168). Meanwliile, involuntary bankruptcy proceed-

ings against the California corporation (R. 273, 168)

(Receiver appointed March 27, 1953) (R. 98), were dis-

missed on condition that the assets of the California

corporation be administered as part of the bankrupt

estate in Seattle, Washington. This was done (R. 98,

168-169).

Subsequently, the Receiver of the Washington cor-

poration sold the assets in the Bon Marche concession

at sale (R. 587) and the assets were purchased by

Shaveraids, Inc. (although the corporation had not been

designed for that purpose) (R. 688) for reasons of

economy, the corporation being organized and avail-

able (R. 688). Shaveraids, Inc., attempted to purchase

concession assets in California, but without success (R.

588). The funds that would have made such purchase

possible were to have come from the proceeds of a loan

that Bert Edwards made or was prepared to make (R.

650-651). Max T. Edwards was not a stockholder in

Shaveraids, Inc., or financially interested in the Seattle

concession (R. 170-171).

£. Cooperation Subsequent to Appointment of Receiver

Following the appointment of the Receiver, Gilbert

Edwards cooperated fully (R. 374). There was no claim

by the government that there had been any concealment

at any time from the Receiver by either Gilbert or Max
T. Edwards (R. 169). The Receiver received informa-

tion about the affairs of the corporation from Max T.

Edwards (R. 351). Gilbert Edwards was examined be-

fore the Referee by the Trustee in Bankruptcy and by

his attorney, and answered all questions put to him
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concerning the affairs and property of the company (R.

732). At no time did either the Receiver or the Trustee

in Bankruptcy contact Max T. Edwards or make any

request or demands upon him (R. 552-553, 605, 619-

620). Later (April, 1954) (R. 619), a suit was instituted

against Max T. Edwards and others in Vancouver, B.C.,

and that suit was settled by the payment of $10,000 to

the Trustee (R. 616-618; Ex. A-29, 10-22-56). A release

was executed (Ex. A-29). Subsequent to the settlement,

warrants for the arrest of the defendants were issued

(R. 16-17).

F. Financial Records of Bankrupt Corporation

A principal witness for the government was Edward

R. Ester, certified public accountant, an accountant for

the Washington and California corporations involved

since 1946 (R. 284). It was Mr. Ester who not only

supervised the keeping of the books and records for the

corporations involved and supplied data for creditors

but who was also employed by the Receiver and later

by the Trustee in Bankruptcy. The government also

used as a witness and relied upon the testimony of

Bernice E. Flynn. Bernice E. Flynn commenced em-

plojonent for the Washington corporation in August,

1952 (R. 429, 421) and continued in the employment

for a period of two weeks following the appointment

of the Receiver (R. 425). Miss Flynn kept the book-

keeping records (R. 420, 424, 426-427). She testified

that nothing happened to the records of the Washing-

ton corporation while she was there and there was no

change in the manner of keeping these records (R. 426-

428).
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Corporate books of account including records of or-

iginal entry were kept at all times (R. 277, 147, 427,

140), as well as daily sales reports (PI. Ex. 47). How-

ever, transactions between the Washington and Cana-

dian corporations were always recorded in books kept

in Vancouver (R. 433-434), not in Washington (R.

281). It was Mr. Ester's practice to make adjusting

entries at the end of the year (R. 282), the last such

entry made being in 1951 (R. 282). He hadn't made

them for 1952 because, as he testified, this was not due

to any request or intervention on the part of the Ed-

wards, but rather because he, the accountant, hadn't

gotten around to it (R. 282).

Likewise, the postings from the books of original

entry had not been made since June, 1952, for the same

reason (R. 282). However, the books of original entry

did contain the record concerning the state of Max T.

Edwards' account with the corporation (R. 155). This

account showed advances made by Max T. Edwards to

the corporation and the repayment of such advances

(R. 155). Also shown were the loan of Gilbert Edwards

of $1,800 to the Washington corporation on August 5,

1952 (R. 307, 308, 347, 348) and the $2,000 paid to Gil-

bert Edwards (R. 170-172; PI. Ex. 12, 35).

The same records showed the state of business of the

concessions (R. 315-316) and the department store ad-

vances (PI. Ex. 17—Macy's $5,000; PI. Ex. 20—Wein-
stock-Lubin, $5,000; PI. Ex. 21—Broadway Depart-

ment Store, $15,000) (PI. Ex. 21).

Among the records of the corporation turned over

to the State Court Receiver were the following:

(a) Checks involved in the withdrawals by Max T.
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Edwards (PI. Ex. 8, 9, 10, 13, 14) ;
(b) Books of origi-

nal entry showing the state of Max T. Edwards' ac-

count, with withdrawals being charged to him (R. 155) ;

(c) Accounts payable ledger (PI. Ex. 2) ;
(d) Accounts

payable statement (PL Ex. 1) showing the status of

accounts payable on various dates; (e) The statement

of the condition of the business exhibited to creditors

at the February 27, 1953, meeting (PL Ex. 3) (R. 322,

334) (Mr. Cosby, later State Court Receiver, was pres-

ent, R. 323) ;
(f) Ex. A-8 made at the creditors' re-

quest and submitted at the March 9th meeting (R. 325-

327) ; (g) Ex. A-3 (St. 1-31-53) submitted to creditors

at February 27, 1953, meeting (R. 323-324)
;
(h) Check

showing the ownership of the cash register by the Wash-

ington corporation (PL Ex. 6) ;
(i) Records of depart-

mental business (R. 314-315); (j) Record of Gilbert

Edwards' loan of $1,800 (R. 347-348); (k) Ledger

sheets (PL Ex. 39) ; and (1) Daily sales reports for

1952 (PL Ex.47).

The Receiver testified that he was able to ascertain the

status of the business as of 12-31-52 (R. 302-303). On
that basis he knew, or could have ascertained, that at

the end of 1952 after the advances and withdrawals

were balanced, the Washington corporation was in-

debted to Max T. Edwards in the sum of $2,756.38 (R.

121, 298). It was also possible to ascertain from those

records that the company was indebted to Max T. Ed-

wards on January 12, 1953, in the sum of $2,000, $300

on January 15, 1953, and $3,000 on January 21, 1953,

subject to amounts owing by him for an unpaid stock

subscription and a Cadillac car. The amount owed by

him would have been $2,543.62, and this. Max T. Ed-

wards repaid the corporation (R. 122).
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It is true that there was no book record showing the

transfer of the cash register and the delivery of the

adding machine. This, however, was too soon before the

onslaught of the receivership. However, these matters

could have been inquired into by the Receiver and the

Trustee. Mr. Ester testified that Max T. Edwards gave

the Receiver information relative to corporate affairs

(R. 351), and that the Receiver explained the books

and records to the Trustee in Bankruptcy (R. 355).

There was no showing that the records were incor-

rect or otherwise incomplete, but merely that Mr. Ester

had not gotten aroimd to posting the transactions to

the ledger from the books of original entry (R. 282).

He also was employed by the Receiver to make post-

ings to the ledger and there was no showing that he

failed to do so. There was no showing that either of

the defendants had not truthfully answered all ques-

tions, or that they had refused to answer creditors, or

that the creditors were not fully aware of all facts con-

nected with any of the items which are the subject of

the various counts of the Indictment.

G. The Transfer of the Cash Register and the Delivery

of the Adding Machine

The Washington corporation owned a cash register

(R. 127-128; PL Ex. 6, 27; R. 380-381, 421). About

February 17, 1953, in connection with the previously

authorized (R. 477-478) closing or dismantling (R.

727, 760) operations [because the Seattle store, being

unprofitable (R. 286-287, 338) was to be closed (R. 324,

329, 334, 477-478, 529-530) and its business was taper-

ing down (R. 609)], Gilbert Edwards arranged to ship
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the cash register and other items to Edwards, Ltd. (R.

757-758). Accordingly, an invoice showing this transac-

tion was made out February 20, 1953 (R. 764). This

invoice was a preliminary requirement of the shipment

(R. 230). The cash register and other items were origi-

nally released by the Customs Service on March 2 or 3,

1953, and then returned for some reason (R. 229) and

then again released to Bekins Transfer (R. 228) about

March 9, 1953 (R. 229). Thus, the cash register was

gone before the State Court Receiver was appointed,

a rented one being substituted (R. 422). The transfer of

the cash register was for the sum of $126 charged to

Edwards, Ltd. (R. 726, 766). Reference to Ex. A-34

shows notation that the amount was taken off the ac-

count between two stores and paid (R. 722, 726).

The cash register was ultimately delivered to the

Lewis Cutlery, Ltd. store in Vancouver, B.C. (R. 765,

529-530). That company needed the cash register (R.

530) to replace an older unsatisfactory type (R. 728)

;

in fact, it could have used it sooner (R. 763) and Gilbert

Edwards was late in sending it up (R. 763) . He had been

instructed to close the Seattle store as soon as possible

after the Christmas business (R. 477-478). About the

same time, as part of the dismantling operations, other

items were shipped to California (R. 760-762). The add-

ing machine, owned by the corporation (R. 127), which

was a portable machine, inadvertantly referred to as a

cash register, was delivered by Gilbert Edwards [who

used it at the store (R. 531) and at his home, too (R. 729-

730)] to Max T. Edwards (R. 758, 531, 533) for his use

in his travels for the business (R. 533, 630-631) in Janu-

ary or February 1953 (R. 530-531) prior to the appoint-
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ment of the State Court Receiver. Accordingly, it never

came into the Receiver's possession (R. 422) and never

came into the possession of the Trustee who was ap-

pointed after the filing of the involuntary petition on

May 7, 1953. Miss Flynn testified (contrary to another

government witness, R. 356) that no adding machine

was replaced in the Seattle store, apparently because

not needed (R. 423, 608). No demand for possession of

said items was ever made by the Trustee or Receiver

(R. 605).

H. Elements of Oflfenses Charged But Not Proved

These will be referred to in Argimient. We would

like to point out, however, that we have not found in

the Record any reference to the date upon which the

Trustee in Bankruptcy was appointed and qualified,

^lay 7, 1953, is the date upon which the petition in in-

voluntary bankruptcy was filed.

SPEanCATION OF ERRORS
Specification of Error No. 1

The District Court prejudicially erred in overruling

appellants' respective motions for dismissal and judg-

ment of acquittal of each and every count respectively

of the Indictment against each defendant, the evidence

being insufficient as a matter of law to support the alle-

gations of the respective counts. With respect to the de-

fendant, Max T. Edwards, the venue laid was not

proved. The judgment should be reversed with direc-

tions to enter judgment of acquittal.

Specification of Error No, 2

The District Court prejudicially erred in denying ap-
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pellants' respective Motions for Judgment of Acquittal

filed March 19, 1958 (pursuant to Rule 29 of the Federal

Rules of Criminal Procedure) with respect to the counts

and each of them as to which the respective defendants

were found guilty. The judgment should be reversed

with directions to enter judgment of acquittal.

Specification of Error No. 3

The District Court prejudicially erred in entering

judgment of guilty against appellants, and each of them,

and in imposing a sentence on the counts as to which

there was no evidence sufficient to go to the jury. The

judgment should be reversed with directions to enter

judgment of acquittal.

Specification of Error No. 4
The District Court prejudicially erred in submitting

to the jury counts of the Indictment on which the evi-

dence was not sufficient, assuming arguemdo that the evi-

dence was sufficient as to other count or counts of such

Indictment. The judgment should be reversed and a new

trial ordered.

Specification of Error No. 5

The District Court prejudicially erred in overruling

objections interposed on behalf of the appellants and

each of them to evidence adduced on behalf of the gov-

ernment in admitting plaintiif's Ex. 24 (R. 353).

Specification of Error No. 6

The District Court prejudicially erred in overruling

objections interposed on behalf of the appellants and

each of them to evidence adduced on behalf of the gov-

ernment in admitting plaintiff's Ex. 12 (R. 149).
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Specification of Error No. 7

The District Court prejudicially erred in overruling

objections interposed on behalf of the appellants and

each of them to evidence adduced on behalf of the gov-

ernment in permitting the government's witness, Ben-

jamin Kendall Cosby, State Court Receiver, to testify

concerning the sale of assets of Edwards Shaver De-

partments, Incorporated (the bankrupt corporation)

to Shaveraids, Inc., owned by Gilbert Edwards. The

proceedings were as follows:

"Q. Mr. Cosby, did you as receiver sell any of

the assets of the insolvent corporation ?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. More specifically did you sell the —." (R.

361)

Mr. Morrison: It is my anticipation, Youi
Honor, that he will inquire as to the fact of the pur-

chase of some of the assets from the bankruptcy

—

* * * purchase of some of the assets from the state

receiver by Mr. Grilbert Edwards through the cor-

poration Shaveraids, Inc.
* * *

It is my point that this was entirely a solicited bid

by the receiver who inquired around from various

other sources as to where he could best dispose of

the merchandise and that it was in all respects an
entirely legal and bona fide action, picking up the

pieces that resulted from this bankruptcy.

On that basis I think it*s not material, it having

occurred substantially after the event, and it may
have a prejudicial effect outweighing any probative

value it has in view of the nature of the transaction.

I anticipate that that is what he's attempting to

develop, and on that ground I object." (R. 363)
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Government counsel then stated what he proposed

to show. * * *

'

' The Court : The Court thinks upon your bring-

ing that evidence before the Court during the trial

that the objections thereupon would be not well

taken* * * ". (R. 366)
« * *

Mr. Cosby was then permitted to testify as to the

public sale of assets of the bankrupt corporation con-

sisting of the downtown Seattle Bon Marche concession

to Shaveraids, Inc., and as to the sale being negotiated

by Gilbert Edwards on behalf of the purchaser (R. 368-

371).

Specification of Error No. 8

The District Court prejudicially erred in overruling

objections interposed on behalf of the appellants and

each of them to evidence introduced on behalf of the

government, in permitting government witnesses to

testify concerning the amount received by general

creditors, percentagewise, from either the State Court

Receiver or the Federal Court Trustee in Bankruptcy,

or both of them. The proceedings were as follows (R.

249-250) :

The witness, Clifton Burch, testified as follows

:

"Q. Do you know how much the general creditors

received percentagewise from either the state court

receiver, the Federal Court trustee in bankruptcy,

or both of them ?

Mr. Morrison : Your Honor, the only purpose of

this is apparently to incite some feeling against

these defendants and we're not responsible for the

method of administration of the bankruptcy pro-

ceedings, and I think it has no materiality whatso-

ever on any issue in this case, and I don 't think that
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going into the bankruptcy proceedings or what the

creditors might have gotten as a result of whatever

administration expenses and fees were involved in

the bankruptcy proceeding has anything to do with

these people, certainly not an intent that was sup-

posed to have been conceived quite a few months

before, or years, as it turned out.

The Court : The objection is overruled. You may
answer.

A. We received approximately— well, we re-

ceived $6,700 out of a $40,000 claim."
» # «

The witness Edward R. Ester testified as follows (R.

99-100)

:

"Q. How much did you have as a claim against

the bankrupt estate?

Mr. Morrison: Objection, Your Honor. I don't

know that that is material.

The Court : The objection is overruled.

A. It was roughly eleven hundred dollars. I don't

have the exact figure.

Q. (By Mr. MoKinnon) How much was paid to

general creditors percentagewise, to the best of your

recollection ?

Mr. Morrison : Now I object to that. Your Honor,

as being completely irrelevant and immaterial to

any issue in this case as to how the bankruptcy pro-

ceeding was administered.

The Court: What is the purpose of it, to evi-

dence what issue?

Mr. McKinnon : The intent of the defendants in

making the transfers alleged.

* * *

The Court: For that limited purpose the objec-

tion is overruled, and the

—
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The Court: The objection is overruled and the

witness may answer.

A. It was less than twenty per cent. I don't have

the exact percentage. I believe it was around

eighteen." (R. 99-100)

Specification of Error No. 9

The District Court prejudicially erred in sustaining

the government's objections to admission of Deft. Ex.

A-22 (R. 501). The proceedings were as follows:

Beginning at R. 495 the witness testified to accounting

data, referring to a schedule which upon request of gov-

ernment counsel was marked for identification as Ex.

A-22 (R. 496).

The following proceedings then occurred (R. 500-

502):
'

' The Court : Are you reading from this sched-

ule, A-22?
* * #

Mr. Morrison :
* * * He is testifying from rec-

ords which are in evidence. He is referring to the

schedule merely to facilitate the testimony where

we have made the reference [484] available.

Mr. McKinnon : I certainly object to the admis-

sion of any such schedule as this. Your Honor.

The Court: The objection is sustained and I

think you better not use that for the purpose men-
tioned.

* Sf *

Mr. Morrison : If the Court please, we believe it

is admissible on two grounds, the preparation of

schedules to show transactions and disbursements

in a case of this kind has been approved by the

courts, and secondly to expedite this proceeding and
assist the witness in accurately stating the tracing
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of funds involved in this indictment a schedule is

almost essential and that's why it was prepared.

The Court: Summaries by accountants or by

parties who are witnesses are not as a matter of

right admissible. There is no evidence as to when
this document came into being, whether it was made
along with the transactions in order to keep track

of the transactions at the time or when it was made,

or whether it was one purely made in contempla-

tion of this trial for the [485] witness' convenience

or whether it was something made at the time of the

business transactions reflected by it.

Mr. Morrison : I will state it was made in prep-

aration for this trial for the witness' and the jury's

convenience to show the distribution directly based

on evidence which has been submitted of the funds

involved in this indictment.

The Court: The court has no right, I do not

believe, to admit it over objection.

Mr. Morrison: I can submit authority to the

court where the admission of such exhibits has been

approved.

The Court: The Court sustains the objection.

You may proceed.

(Defendants' Exhibit No. A-22 for identification

was refused.)
* * *

The Court : I do not hear a stipulation. You may
proceed. The court does not admit it."

Specification of Error No. 10

The District Court prejudicially erred in denying ap-

pellants' respective motions for new trial filed March

19, 1958, pursuant to Rules 29 and 33 of the Federal

Rules of Criminal Procedure, such denial constituting

an abuse of discretion.
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
1. Each appellant is entitled to separate consideration

on each count of the indictment of which complaint is

here made.

2. In connection with Specifications of Error 1, 2

and 3, there was a failure to prove one or more of the

essential elements of the offenses charged as to each

count on which the defendants were found guilty, thus

requiring the reversal of the judgment of conviction

with directions to enter a judgment of acquittal. In con-

nection with this point, the government failed to prove

that the defendants or either of them had possession or

control of the items of money or property described in

the various counts of the indictment at the time of the

apj)ointment of the Trustee ; failed to prove that there

was a knowing and fraudulent withholding of informa-

tion from the Trustee or creditors concerning the items

of money or property involved; with respect to count

XIX involving the transfer of a cash register, the gov-

ernment also failed to prove that the transfer was ''in

contemplation of a bankruptcy proceeding" and "with

intent to defeat the bankruptcy law" ; that with respect

to Max T. Edwards, the evidence was also insufficient in

failing to prove that the offenses charged took place in

Seattle, Washington (See also Br. p. 57, 60, infra).

3. The District Court prejudicially erred (Spec. Err.

4) in submitting to the jury counts of the indictment on

which the evidence was not sufficient, assuming argu-

e^ido that the evidence was sufficient as to other count

or counts of the indictment. By this submission, the jury

was adversely affected in its consideration of the counts

involved. Had counts as to which the evidence was in-



26

sufficient been dismissed, much evidence would have

been withdrawn from the jury's consideration, the is-

sues would have been simplified, and the jury could have

considered the remaining count or counts without the

prejudice attendant upon the admission of immaterial

evidence under simplified instructions of the court. Ac-

cordingly, the judgment should be reversed and a new

trial ordered.

4. The District Court prejudicially erred in over-

ruling objections interposed on behalf of the appel-

lants and each of them to evidence adduced on be-

half of the government with respect to (a) (Spec. Err.

5) in admitting Plaintiff's Exhibit 24 (Br. p. 65,

infra); (2) (Spec. Err. 6) in admitting Plaintiff's

Exhibit 12 (Br. p. 66, infra)
;
(c) (Spec. Err. 7) in

permitting a government witness to testify concerning

the sale of bankrupt assets to Shaveraids, Inc. (Br. p.

68, infra) ; and (d) (Spec. Err. 8) in permitting gov-

ernment witnesses to testify to the percentage received

by creditors (Br. p. 69, infra). The evidence was im-

material and prejudicial.

5. The District Court prejudicially erred (Spec. Err.

9) in sustaining the government's objections to the ad-

mission of Defendants' Exhibit A-22 constituting a sum-

mary of accounting testimony (See Br. p. 70, infra).

The evidence was highly material.

6. The District Court prejudicially erred (Spec. Err.

10) in denying appellant's respective motions for a new

trial. The jury had an involved case to consider under a

twenty-one count indictment under inadequate instruc-

tions, the inadequacy being as to vital matters. As a re-

sult, the jury apparently did not properly understand
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the case. The denial of a new trial was therefore an

abuse of discretion (See Br. p. 72, infra).

The foregoing points are set forth under appropriate

headings in the index, to which the court is respectfully

referred.

ARGUMENT
Specifications of Error Nos. 1, 2, 3, and 10

I.

There Was a Failure to Prove One or More of the Essen-

tial Elements of the Ofifenses Charged as to Each

Count on Which the Defendants Were Found Guilty.

Judgment of Conviction Should Be Reversed with

Directions to Enter a Judgment of Acquittal.

A. Statement of proceedings below on error claimed

Appellants challenged the sufficiency of the evidence

at the close of the government's case (R. 437-440) and

renewed the challenge at the end of the entire case (R.

783). In conformity with Rule 29, F.R.C.P., appellants

interposed a Motion for Judgment of Acquittal (R. 33,

35). Each of these the District Court overruled (See Br.

p. 2, ft. 2). The action of the District Court is assigned

as eiTor.

B. Preliminary principles

At the outset we deem it helpful to call attention to

the following preliminary principles:

1. The error assigned is reviewable. Lelles v. U. S.

(9 Cir.) 241 F.2d 21; Anderson v. U.S. (9 Cir.) 253

F.2d 419.

2. Every element of the offense charged must be

proved, else the defendant is entitled to be acquitted.

Politano v. IT. S. (10 Cir.) 220 F.2d 217.
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3. Each defendant is entitled to separate considera-

tion on each count.

Kotteakos v. U. S., 328 U.S. 750, 90 L.ed. 1557,

66 S.Ct. 1239.

4. Scintilla evidence is not enough. Substantial evi-

dence of guilt is required.

Curley v. U. S. (D.C. Cir.) 160 P.2d 229;

U. S. V. Yeoman-Henderson, Inc. (7 Cir.) 193

F.2d 867, 869.

5. In determining the sufficiency of circumstantial

evidence, acquittal must be ordered if the jury must

find as reasonable men that the evidence is insufficient.

Thus, if the jury must have a reasonable doubt of guilt,

the court should grant the motion for acquittal.

Karn v. U. S. (9 Cir.) 158 F.2d 568

;

Curley v. U. S. (D.C. Cir.) 160 F.2d 229;

Elwert V. U. S. (9 Cir.) 231 F.2d 928, p. 933.

6. The entire record is considered.

T'Kach V. U. S. (5 Cir.) 242 F.2d 937.

7. Defendants' evidence may be considered in deter-

mining whether the government's circumstantial evi-

dence is consistent with the defendants' innocence. In

U. S. V, Gasomiser (D. Del.) 7 F.R.D. 712, the court

said at p. 721

:

"It should be made clear, however, that while

all the goverimient's evidence is accepted as true,

the court may very well look to the defense evi-

dence for the purpose of ascertaining a reasonable

. hypothesis other than guilt. In many cases, a mo-
tion for judgment of acquittal made at the close

of the government's case will be denied because

there is no apparent reasonable hypothesis from
the circumstances other than that of guilt. Indeed,
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in most cases any hypothesis other than guilt can

only be shown in defense. The government usu-

ally is interested solely in presenting its own case,

and inferences other than guilt can only be shown
by facts at variance with the hypothesis of the gov-

ernment itself. If the rule that 'unless there is

substantial evidence of facts which exclude every

other hypothesis but that of guilt, it is the duty of

the trial court to instruct the jury to return a ver-

dict for the accused' has merit, then the rule must
be invoked at a time where it may have value.

After the defense evidence has been presented,

therefore, such a motion may be granted for the

reason that the defense evidence has presented a

reasonable hypothesis other than guilt which may
be inferred from all of the government's evidence."

Accordingly, defendants' evidence will be relied

upon—not to enable the court to weigh conflicting evi-

dence—but rather to show that the government's cir-

cumstantial evidence relied on to show the elements of

''knowing and fraudulent," "contemplation of bank-

ruptcy," and "intent to defeat the bankruptcy laws"

did not negative the innocent character of such cir-

cumstantial evidence because of the possible and prob-

able character of such innocence as shown by the de-

fendants ' evidence as to what actually transpired. Such

a showing will be made to support the defendants' con-

tention that the government failed to establish evidence

of guilt, and judgment of acquittal should now be or-

dered.

State V. Buckingham, Del , 134 A.2d

568.

8. Any error affecting substantial rights is not to

be disregarded unless it affirmatively appears from the

entire record that it was not prejudicial.
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McCandlcss v. U. S., 298 U.S. 342, 80 L.ed.

1205, 56 S.Ct. 764;

Kotteakos v. U. S., 328 U.S. 750, 90 L.ed. 1557,

66 S.Ct. 1239.

9. Erroneously admitted or excluded evidence which

might have operated to the substantial injury of the de-

fendant constitutes reversible error. Wolcher v. U. S,

(9 Cir.) 200 F.2d 493. This is true even though the evi-

dence is inmaaterial, if it was otherwise detrimental or

prejudicial. Beyer v. U. S. (3 Cir.) 282 Fed. 225. This

is especially true in a close case. Templeton v. U. S. (6

Cir.) 151 F.2d 706.

10. Cases involving concealment under 11 U.S.C.A.

§32 (c) dealing with grounds for objecting to discharges

in bankruptcy, although involving civil rather than

criminal liability, will be cited to cast light on the mean-

ing of the phrase in the penal statute, 18 U.S.C.A. §152

'* knowingly and fraudulently conceals." Because we

have a penal statute here, the rule of strict construc-

tion applies (Field v. U. S. (8 Cir.) 137 Fed. 6) and it

will be recalled that the requirement with respect to

this penal statute is that proof of violation must be be-

yond a reasonable doubt.

C. There was a failure to prove that defendants, or either

of them, had possession or control of the items of

money or property described in the various counts

of the Indictment at the time of the filing of the in-

voluntary petition in bankruptcy, or at the time of

the appointment of the Trustee, or thereafter.

1. Facts as to the so-called ^^concealment^' counts,

namely. Counts III, VI, IX, XII, XV, XVIII, XX and

XXI.

The circumstances surrounding the counts involved
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were quite similar. Count III is typical. It charged that

the defendants knowingly and fraudulently concealed

on and after May 7, 1953, at Seattle from the Trustee

and from creditors in a bankruptcy proceeding, prop-

erty belonging to the estate of the bankrupt, to-wit,

$4,000. The following is a summary of the amounts and

exhibits and dates involved

:

Count III, $4,000 (Ex. 8) dated 12-15-52 (R. 138).

Count VI, $15,000 (Ex. 9) dated 12-30-52 (R. 139-

140).

Count IX, $5,000 (Ex. 10) dated 12-30-52 (R. 142).

Count XII, $7,500 (Exs. 30 and 34) dated 12-30-52

(R. 152).

Count XV, $2,000 (Ex. 14) dated 1-12-53 (R. 151).

Count XVIII, $3,000 (Ex. 13) dated 1-22-53 (R.

150).

Count XX, cash register (About February 17, 1953.

See Br. p. 16, supra) .

Count XXI, involving Gilbert Edwards only, adding

machine (In February, 1953. See Br. p. 45, 61 infra).

The evidence concerning the circumstances under

which the sums were withdrawn is summarized at

Brief, page 7, supra.

One element was common to each of these counts.

The government failed to prove that the items involved

were in the possession of the defendants at the time of

the filing of the involuntary petition in bankruptcy,

May 7, 1953, or at the time of the appointment and

qualification of the Trustee in Bankruptcy there being

no evidence as to when this took place, or thereafter.

Indeed, the evidence affirmatively showed that the

moneys, which are the subject matter of Counts III,
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VI, IX, XII, XV, and XVIII, had been disbursed by

Edwards Shaver Departments, Inc., on or about the

dates above described (the last disbursement being

January 22, 1953) in payment of sums owing to Max T.

Edwards, his account being charged therewith (R, 41,

42). He, in turn, used the sums to repay loans made by

him from Canadian Banks who had called the loans, to

pay insurance premiums and to assist his wife in con-

nection with a real estate investment (Br. p. 8,

supra). The evidence also showed that even after the

payment of these funds the company was still indebted

to Max T. Edwards (R. 614). The evidence further

showed that Max T. Edwards continued to lend money

to the corporation as late as February 13, 1953 (R.

772), and the goverimient's evidence showed that any

sums paid out to him in excess of his indebtedness were

repaid (R. 122, 298-299). Clearly then, as to the sums

of money involved, there could be no concealment or

secreting. They merely constituted the repayment of a

debt owing to a creditor. (The jury found neither con-

spiracy nor fraudulent transfer involved in these pay-

ments because they found the defendants not guilty on

the counts which so charged ; namely, Counts I, II, IV,

V, VIII, X, XI, XIII, XIV, XVI and XVII).

It was, therefore, evident that the moneys so paid to

Max T. Edwards had ceased being the property of the

corporation from the time of pa>^nent and could not

possibly, therefore, constitute property of the corpora-

tion concealed from the Trustee or the creditors.

2. The facts (ts to Count XX with respect to possession

or control of the cash register.

The cash register, which Count XX charged the de-

fendants with concealing as "property belonging to
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the estate of * * * Edwards Shaver Departments, In-

corporated" was likewise no longer in the custody or

legal control of either defendant. The evidence hereto-

fore reviewed (Br. p. 16-18, supra) showed that the

cash register was shipped to Edwards, Ltd., Vancouver,

B. C, about February 20, 1953 (R. 765-766, 232-233).

This was prior to the appointment of the State Court

Receiver on March 11, 1953 (R. 422). The transfer was

pursuant to an earlier plan to close the Seattle store

and Gilbeii; Edwards was late in getting around to the

transfer (R. 761, 765). Edwards, Ltd., was charged $126

for this transfer (R. 726, 766, 772; Ex. A-34). This

meant that title to the cash register had passed to Ed-

wards, Ltd., on or shortly after February 20, 1953, and

prior to the appointment of the State Court Receiver.

It could not, therefore, possibly be property of the

bankrupt corporation on May 7, 1953, or thereafter,

because title had passed on or about February 20, 1953".

This case, therefore, is not one in which either the

bankrupt corporation or the defendants, or either of

them, retain a secret interest in the property so that in

truth and in fact the property belongs to the estate of

the bankrupt, and, therefore, the concealment of the

estate's interest violates the statute.

In re Perkins (D.N.J.) 40 F.Supp. 114;

In re Neiderheiser (8 Cir.) 45 F.2d 489.

This is all the more true in the absence of a showing

that the creditors or Trustee in Bankruptcy were ig-

norant of the facts (See Br. p. 12-16, supra). This prin-

ciple that there is no concealment has been applied

where the bankrupt has made full disclosure of the

facts.
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In re Doody (7 Cir.) 92 F.2d 653;

In re Hennelry (N.D. Iowa) 207 Fed. 882.

Certainly, if the defendants in good faith transferred

the cash register believing that title thereto was trans-

ferred to Edwards, Ltd., such a transfer could not be

the subject of "fraudulent concealment."

In re Wakefield (N.D. N.Y.) 207 Fed. 180.

It is true that Max T. Edwards testified that he stiU

had the cash register on May 7, 1953, and that he would

have given it to Gilbert Edwards if the latter had asked

for it on or after May 7, 1953 (R. 533). Gilbert Ed-

wards also testified the cash register was available in

Vancouver, B. C, on May 7, 1953 (R. 741).* However,

what Max T. Edwards meant is obvious. The record

shows that since about February 20, 1953, Edwards,

Ltd., the Canadian corporation, was the owner of the

cash register, its account having been charged therefor

and to whom possession had been delivered (Br. p. 16,

supra). As the testimony shows, Max T. Edwards did

not mean to repudiate the legal custody, possession and

control of the cash register by its OA\mer, Edwards, Ltd.,

the Canadian corporation. All that Max T. Edwards

obviously meant was that he had the control of the cash

register on behalf of Edwards, Ltd., not a control

either on his own behalf individually or on behalf of

Edwards Shaver Departments, Inc. Nothing in Gilbert

Edwards' testimony is to the contrary.

Edwards, Ltd., a Canadian corporation, was a legal

entity, separate from Max T. Edwards, its sole stock-

* There was no such testimony as to the time of the appointment and
qualification of the Trustee there being no evidence as to when the

Trustee was appointed and qualified. May 7, 1953, is the date of the

filing of the involuntary petition (R. 168).
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holder, and likewise separate from Edwards Shaver

Departraents, Incorporated, the bankrupt corporation

involved. The separate entity of the Canadian corpora-

tion cannot be disregarded.

In re Fox West Coast Theatres (9 Cir.) 88

F.2d 212, p. 227;

Burnet v. Commonwealth Improvement Co.,

287 U.S. 415, 77 L.ed. 399, 53 S.Ct. 198, 199.

Accordingly, Edwards, Ltd., had life, property,

creditors, title, and possessory rights and remedies of

its own.

See

Proprietors of Jeffries Neck Pasture v. In-

habitants of Ipswich, 153 Mass. 42, 26 N.E.

239, 240.

The title, possession or control of Edwards, Ltd., was

not that of Max T. Edwards, but was independent

thereof. Corporate rights are not stockholder rights.

Such rights cannot be ignored even in bankruptcy pro-

ceedings. See

Wheeler v. Smith (9 Cir.) 30 F.2d 59;

Finnv. George T. Mickle Lumber Co. (9 Cir.)

41F.2d676;

New York Credit Men's Association v. Manu-
facturers Discount Corporation (2 Cir.) 147

F.2d 885, 887,

and cases supra. The control, which Max T. Edwards

testified he had of the cash register, was control on be-

half of Edwards, Ltd., as its agent, not on his own be-

half or on behalf of the bankrupt corporation. Such

control is not the kind of possession or control that con-
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stitutes "property of" the bankrupt corporation. It is

rather the property of Edwards, Ltd., the Canadian

corporation. This distinction is pointed out in Restate-

ment, Torts, Sec. 216, defining what is meant by pos-

session of a chattel. Assuming at best that Max T. Ed-

wards had physical custody of the cash register, the

possession and control of the cash register was, never-

theless, in Edwards, Ltd., the owner. See State v. Can-

yon Lumber Corp., 46 Wn.2d 701, 710, 281 P.2d 316,

322; Henley v. State, 59 Ga. 595, 2 S.E.2d 139.

In the Canyon Lumber Corporation case, the court

said:
a * * * it is the theory of the law that all property

is in the possession of its owner, either in person or

by agent. Wi7idsor v. McVeigh, 93 U.S. 274, 23

L.ed. 914 ; Portland cfc Seattle Railway Co. v. Ladd,

47 Wash. 88, 91 P. 573."

The testimony of the Edwards, in light of the record,

does not destroy the fact that legal possession and con-

trol of the cash register was in the Canadian corpora-

tion and the testimony does not create a jury question.

In an analogous case, Elenkrieg v. SiebrecJit, 238 N.Y.

254, 144 N.E. 519, one Siebrecht, his wife and daugh-

ter owned all the stock of a corporation and were

officers in charge. In some letters he referred to the cor-

poration 's property as his property, and in referring to

a possible reduction in rent, he referred to it in terms of

"we shall be obliged to reduce his rent." An employee

who was injured brought suit against Siebrecht, and

the plaintiff relied in part upon the manner in which

Siebrecht referred to the property as his. In holding

that such testimony was not sufficient to make a jury

question on the issue of Siebrecht 's personal liability,
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and in ordering the case dismissed, the court said at

p. 521:

"Merely because Siebrecht referred to the prop-

erty as his property cannot overcome the undis-

puted fact of the corporation's existence and own-

ership. * * * However this may be, the corpora-

tion exists ; it has title to the property ; it main-

tains and operates the property through agents.

The fact that it is a family corporation, so to

speak, is nothing suspicious or illegal. Innimier-

able are the corporations wherein all the stock is

owned by a few members of one family. The fact

that one man may own all but a few shares of the

stock, and be in fact the dominant and controlling

factor or the only active manager of the corpora-

tion, is no evidence in and of itself that the cor-

poration does not exist as a person in the eyes of

the law actually owning, operating, and controlling

property."

Had the government pursued the question as to

whether what Max T. Edwards or Gilbert Edwards

meant was individual control by Max T. Edwards as

distinguished from control by Edwards, Ltd., the Ca-

nadian corporation, the matter would have been

brought out in its true light and it would have been

apparent that legal possession and control was not in

either Max T. Edwards or Gilbert Edwards. Without

such control being proved, there was a fatal defect in

the government's case and no concealment was proved

(See Br. p. 40, infra),

a. The facts and law as to control as applied to Max T.

Edwards,

As pointed out above, the possession or control to

which Max T. Edwards testified was a possession or
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was no evidence below that the entity of Edwards, Ltd.,

should be disregarded. The government's own questions

assumed that Edwards, Ltd., and Edwards Shaver De-

partments, Incorporated, were independent entities,

each with its own creditors (R. 756, 765-766). The

court's instructions assumed the independent character

of the entities (R. 804). No instructions were given on

the subject of disregarding the entity of the private

corporation.'^ Max T. Edwards, having neither the re-

quired possession nor the required control of the cash

register at the time the Trustee was appointed (and,

indeed, there being no evidence as to when the Trustee

was appointed and qualified), the evidence was fatal-

ly deficient in failing to prove that he had the cash reg-

ister as
'

' property belonging to the estate
'

' of the bank-

rupt corporation.

b. The facts and law as to control as applied to Gilbert

Edwards.

The evidence showed that Gilbert Edwards had nei-

ther possession, control, nor physical custody of the cash

register since prior to the appointment of the State

Court Receiver. He was neither stockholder, officer

or employee of the Canadian corporations, and was not

a stockholder in Edwards Shaver Departments, Incor-

porated. His testimony that the cash register was avail-

able (R. 533) must also be understood in context of the

record. For Gilbert Edwards to have gotten the cash

register back, he would have had to ask Edwards, Ltd.,

•^The distinction as to the kind of control involved, above discussed, was
wholly ignored in the court's instructions (R. 807), a deficiency which
undoubtedly constituted a fatal and prejudicial factor in bringing about

a verdict of guilty on the counts involved (see Br. p. 72, infra).
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for it and Edwards, Ltd., had the absolute power to re-

fuse on the ground that it had paid for the cash register

and that the cash register belonged to it. See Sheeham

V. Hunter (8 Cir.) 133 F.2d 303. The claim of Edwards,

Ltd., could not be ignored, for example, so as to permit

the exercise of summary jurisdiction by the bankruptcy

court to require possession to be restored. See New
York Credit Men's Association v. Manufacturers Dis-

count Corp. (2 Cir.) 147 F.2d 885. Likewise as to Gil-

bert Edwards there was no evidence as to when the

Trustee was appointed and qualified. Thus the govern-

ment's evidence as to possession and control by Gilbert

Edwards was especially deficient. Any possession or

control there was, was in Edwards, Ltd., a Canadian

corporation.

3. The facts with respect to Count XXi involving the

portable adding machine.

With respect to the portable adding machine, the

uncontradicted evidence is that Gilbert Edwards in

February, 1953, delivered the adding machine to Max
T. Edwards, president of Edwards Shaver Depart-

ments, Inc., so that he might use it as part of his

equipment "with a portable typewriter and a camera,

dictating machine and other things which I used in my
travels" (R. 533, 630-631, 760). There was no receiver-

ship or bankruptcy considered or threatened by any-

one at the time. The delivery to Max T. Edwards (R.

758) was simply part of the closing operations of the

Seattle store (R. 762-763) and Gilbert Edwards never

liad legal possession, custody or control of the adding

machine thereafter (Br. p. 17, supra). The govern-

ment's evidence did not negative this innocent delivery
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by Gilbert Edwards and the defendants' evidence

established what transpired. If anyone had custody,

control or possession, it was either Max T. Edwards as

an individual or his Canadian corporation. Neither

Max T. Edwards or his Canadian corporation were

charged with concealing the portable adding machine

fi'om anyone.

4. It is well settled that there can be no concealment of

assets belonging to the bankrupt unless the person

charged with the concealment has possession or, at

the very minimum, actual control of his own over

the funds or the property involved ivhen the Trustee

is appointed.

The govemmmit failed to prove such possession or

control here. Indeed, the government failed to prove

tvhen the Trustee was appointed and qualified.

Reiner v. U. 8.(9 Cir.) 92 F.2d 823;

Hersh v. U. S. (9 Cir.) 68 F.2d 799;

U. S. V. Camp (D.Haw.) 140 F.Supp. 98;

U. S. V. Schireson (3 Cir.) 116 F.2d 881.

In Reiner v. IT. S., supra, in holding that there was

no concealment from the trustee in bankruptcy because

the government had failed to prove possession of the

cash involved when the trustee was appointed, the court

first reviewed the Hersh case, supra, at page 824 as fol-

lows:

''In Hersh v. U. S. (9 Cir.) 68 F.(2d) 799, 804,

the defendant was indicted for concealing assets

from the trustee in bankruptcy. The court said:

' The burden of proof was upon the government to

show the concealment of the funds alleged in the

indictment. In view of the fact that the conceal-

ment relied upon consisted in the transfer of
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moneys to Klein and Auerbach several months be-

fore the trustee qualified, it was essential to show
that this concealment continued down to the time

the trustee was appointed and thereafter, with in-

tent to deprive the trustee and the creditors of the

aforementioned sum.' "

The court continued at p. 825 as follows

:

"The government contends * * * the evidence

shows that concealment occurred after the appoint-

ment of Lynch as trustee, on July 7, 1936. There is

no merit in this contention. It rests upon the as-

sumption that, because the defendant did not, in

June, turn over to the receiver all the cash he had
obtained in Los Angeles on April 22d, before his

departure for Denver, therefore he must have had
some left on July 7th, and therefore that amount
was concealed on or after July 7th.

*

' On this the burden of proof was on the appel-

lee. Of the $2,670 cash appellant had on April 22d,

he paid out, before he left Los Angeles, to attor-

neys and salesmen $540. Arriving in Denver, he

spent $195 in rent, for accommodations in that city.

The total thus accounted for amounts to $735. This

leaves $1,935. In June, E. A. Lynch went to Den-
ver and took from defendant all his textile stock

and the sum of $1,210.34 in cash. This left $725 in

cash unaccounted for. There is no evidence that

this was not expended in necessary living expenses

between April 24th and July 7th. The appellee

failed to maintain its burden of proof that there

was any of it left to conceal on July 7th.
'

'

Accordingly, if the bankrupt corporation, through

its officers, had expended corporate funds or trans-

ferred corporate property in payment of its business

expenses prior to the appointment of the Trustee, it
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would be presumed that the sums paid out and property

transferred were paid out properly.

Hersh v. U. S. (9 Cir.) 68 F.2d 799.

There was some evidence that on November 21, 1952,

Edwards, Ltd., contracted to purchase an old boat, with

a down-payment of $500.00 or $1,000.00 (R. 626), which

was then put in repair and which Edwards, Ltd., used

in its business (R. 626, 536). It was contended that

there was some connection between the withdrawal of

funds involved and the contract of Edwards, Ltd., to

purchase this boat. No such contention was ever proved.

Assuming arguendo that it had been proved, the rule

applies that even if the moneys spent and property

transferred had been used to pay the personal expenses

of the officers or even if the moneys spent or property

transferred had been given away or transferred to

hinder, delay or defraud creditors, such conduct would

not constitute the "concealment" charged, the funds

and property not being on hand when the Trustee was

appointed.

U. S. V. Camp (D.Haw.) 140 F.Supp. 98;

In re Hammerstein (2 Cir.) 189 Fed. 37.

In the case at bar, the government's own evidence,

both through the books of account and the accountant,

Ester, showed that the money described in the various

counts of the indictment were withdrawn by Max T.

Edwards in repayment of advances made by him to the

corporation and by him, in turn, expended principally

in repayment of bank loans, which were the source of

the funds that he used to advance interest-free to the

corporation (Br. p. 7, supra). Certainly, the pay-

ment of corporate indebtedness or the sale of corporate
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assets, such as the cash register for value (See Br. p.

17, supra), are both presumptively proper and are not

concealment. Hersh v. U. S. (9 Cir.) 68 F.2d 799.

5. The so-called presumption of continued possession

is insufficient to prevent judgment of acquitted.

a. Money counts

The government may contend that proof of the with-

drawal of funds in December, 1952, and January, 1953

(the dates charged in the counts involved), raises the

presumption that the money was taken by Max T. Ed-

wards and was still in his possession on May 7, 1953,

when the involuntary petition was filed (R. 169). The

difficulty with this position is that the government's

own evidence showed that the corporation was indebted

to Max T. Edwards and that this so-called withdrawal

was charged to his account in repayment of his ad-

vances (See Br. p. 8, supra). Thus, with this expla-

nation in the government's own case, the "presump-

tion" of continuance of possession or the inference of

continuance of possession could not be drawn. Maggio

V. Zeitz, 333 U.S. 56, 92 L.ed. 476, 68 S.Ct. 401, 405-407.

This is especially true in the absence of evidence as to

when the Trustee was appointed.

Furthermore, the defendants' evidence showed the

same thing, Max T. Edwards accounting for the with-

drawals, as was done, for example, in Reiner v. U. S.

(9 Cir.) 92 F.2d 823.

b. The cash register

What has heretofore been said as to the funds large-

ly applies to the transfer of the cash register. The gov-

ernment's evidence that the cash register had been
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transferred to Edwards, Ltd., was not accompanied by

any direct evidence that the transfer was improper or

in bad faith or without consideration. Indeed, the gov-

erimient's own evidence showed the plan to close

down and discontinue the Seattle store operations be-

cause of their profitless character (R. 318). This was

disclosed to the creditors at the meeting of February 27,

1953 (R. 324). The government not only failed to show

that this transfer was not in aid of this program of

closing down the Seattle store operations or other le-

gitimate reason, but failed to show that the transfer

was not for value. The defendants' evidence showed

that the transfer was in aid of the closing down opera-

tions and was for value (Br. p. 16, supra), a transfer

entirely consistent with innocence.

In determining whether the evidence was sufficient

to show continued possession or control on the date that

the Tmstee was appointed, or even on the date the in-

voluntary petition was filed, May 7, 1953, the infer-

ence of continued possession amounts to little more

than suspicion or scintilla evidence and does not ex-

clude other hypotheses of innocence which the de-

fendants' evidence established in fact and which the

court may properly consider. U. S. v. Gasomiser (D.

Del.) 7 F.R.D. 712 (Br. p. 28, supra). Under the prin-

ciple that the District Court must enter a judgment of

acquittal if the jury must find from the circumstantial

evidence that the transfer was not concealed, a judg-

ment of acquittal should have been entered here on the

counts involved.

Karn v. U. S. (9 Cir.) 158 F.2d 568;

U. S. V. Gardner (7 Cir.) 171 F.2d 753.
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c. The adding machine

So far as the portable adding machine is concerned,

the government's evidence showed that the adding ma-

chine was in a Seattle store managed by Gilbert Ed-

wards and that Gilbert Edwards had taken the adding

machine home to use it (R. 422) and that it was not on

hand when the State Court Receiver was appointed

(R. 127). The government apparently contends that

the "presumption" is that the adding machine was still

in Gilbert Edwards' possession on May 7, 1953, when

the involuntary petition was filed (R. 441). This pre-

sumption or inference does not necessarily follow.

Thus, the government failed to show that the portable

adding machine had not been delivered, for example,

to another agent or officer of the corporation for his use

in company business and thus was no longer in the pos-

session or control of Gilbert Edwards. Indeed, the de-

fendants' own evidence proved that very hypotheses of

innocence, namely, that Gilbert Edwards had delivered

the portable adding machine (inadvertently referred to

as cash register) to Max T. Edwards, the president of

the corporation, who used it in company business along

with the typewriter and other items which he carried

with him in his travels (R. 533, 758). In the face of the

government's own evidence that the Seattle store was

to be closed (R. 318-319) and that the cash register and

other items, including the adding machine, were sent

elsewhere, any inference of continued possession would,

at best, be a matter of suspicion and conjecture rather

than justifiable inference (Maggio v. Zeitz, 333 U.S.

56, 92 L.ed. 476, 68 S.Ct. 401, 405-407), not inconsistent

with innocence {Kwrn v. U. S. (9 Cir.) 158 F.2d 568,
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and certainly not proof beyond a reasonable doubt.

In re Taylor (N.D. Ala.) 188 Fed. 479, 484:

" * * * fraudulent concealment of assets * * *

by the bankrupt must be made out by clear and

convincing proof and is not the subject of mere

suspicion or inference."

6. Judgment of acquittal should be ordered.

The government's evidence of continued possession

or control on May 7, 1953, or thereafter, instead of

meeting the standard of proof beyond a reasonable

doubt, is at best nothing more than scintilla evidence,

suspicion or conjecture accompanied by a failure to

exclude other hypotheses consistent with innocence

—

hypotheses established, in fact, by the defendants' evi-

dence. Judgment of acquittal should have been and

should now be ordered.

Kani V. U. S. (9 Cir.) 158 F.2d 568;

U. S. V. Gardner (7 Cir.) 171 F.2d 753.

D. There was also no knowing or fraudulent conceal-

ment in fact.

1. The facts as to disclosure

The concealment, if any, must be "knowing and

fraudulent." It cannot be inadvertent or unintentional

or in good faith or in the honest belief that what he is

doing is right. See Jones v. Gertz (10 Cir.) 121 F.2d

782, pp. 783, 784, and cases infra. Furthermore, if it be

assumed, contrary to what has been heretofore said,

that possession or control in the defendants and each of

them was shown or if it be claimed that concealment

consists in the fraudulent withholding of knowledge

of property belonging to the estate of the bankrupt
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corporation, nevertheless the evidence is still not suffi-

cient, as a matter of law, to establish the crime charged

because the government did not otherwise prove beyond

a reasonable doubt that the concealment in the sense of

withholding of knowledge was "knowing and fraudu-

lent."

The government did not prove and the evidence did

not otherwise establish that the Trustee and creditors

were ignorant of the facts concerning the funds or

property which were the subject of the counts in-

volved. Neither the Trustee (who did not testify at all)

nor the creditors testified to any such ignorance. The

books of the bankrupt corporation disclosed the facts

(R. 302) relative to the payment of the sums which are

the subject of the money counts (See Br. p. 13,

supra). ^ Mr. Ester, the accountant for the corporation,

who was employed by both the Receiver and the Trus-

^The bookkeeping records between the Washington and Canadian cor-

porations had always been kept in Vancouver, both in good times and
bad (R. 280-281), Mr. Ester making adjusting entries on the books of

the Washington corporation at the end of the year (R. 282) . This prac-

tice did not show intent to conceal financial condition. In Re Servel

(D.C. Idaho) 30 F.2d 102, During the British Columbia litigation, in-

stituted on behalf of the Trustee (R. 619), Max T. Edwards made
available the records showing the state of accounts between the Wash-
ington and Canadian corporations (R. 536, 613, 619) and which the

plaintiff's attorney had in his possession for some time (R. 619) . After

the suit was settled, the records were returned (R. 526) and put in the

Canadian store's basement. In some cleanup operations, some records

were thrown out as being of no further use (R. 526). This was before

the Indictment was served (R. 16-17). The financial statement of the

Lewis Cutlery, Ltd. (R. 527-528) dated January 31, 1953, shows a

contra account with the Washington corporation (R. 528) (see Br. p.

13, supra) . The records involved have nothing to do with the money
counts and have only to do with the cash register count, evidence of the

transfer of which, however, could have been and was independently

established by documentary evidence below (see Br. p. 16, supra).

Certainly, the loss of the contra account records would not be evidence

of concealment with respect to the counts charged, or otherwise. See

In Re Hirsh (D.C. W.D. Tenn.) 96 Fed. 468, 476, 477.
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tee, was available to the creditors at their meetings of

February 27 (R. 322) and March 9 (R. 328) and to the

Receiver (R. 301) and to the Trustee. There was no

evidence that either defendant refused to reveal or an-

swer questions. Gilbert Edwards not only cooperated

with the Receiver (R. 374) but was examined by the

Referee in Bankruptcy and testified to the affairs and

property of the corporation (R. 732). Gilbert Edwards

advised them as to what happened to those fixtures and

equipment and disposition of funds (R. 732). This is

disclosure—not concealment, hiding or secreting. Dil-

wortJi V. Boothe (5 Cir.) 69 F.2d 621, 623. Max T. Ed-

wards was available, although the Trustee did not com-

municate with him by mail or otherwise. There was no

evidence of any false statement, false affidavit or false

bankruptcy schedule. There was no evidence that either

defendant was aware or made aware of any informa-

tion that was requested of him concerning any of the

items which are the subject of the counts involved other

than those matters as to which they were questioned

and there was no evidence that questions put were not

truthfully and fully answered. There was no evidence

of any demand by Receiver or Trustee or any refusal to

surrender (R. 605). There is no evidence that anyone

told either defendamt that he had a particular duty to

perform which he refused to perform or that either

defendant violated cmy duty of which he had knowledge

(See Br. p. 54, infra).

2. The Government failed to prove that the Trustee or

creditors were ignorant of the facts.

Before there can be a knowing and fraudulent con-
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cealment, the Government must prove that the Trustee

or creditors were ignorant of the facts. There can be no

conceahnent of a matter as to which the adversely af-

fected party has knowledge. Certainly, where the trans-

fer is disclosed to the creditors there can be no conceal-

ment.

Hersh v. U. S. (9 Cir.) 68 F.2d 799;

Barron v. U. S. (1 Cir.) 5 F.2d 799, p. 804;

In re Hennehry (N.D. Iowa) 207 Fed. 882

(Disclosure before Referee).

Furthermore, proof of concealment requires some-

thing more than the mere failure to volunteer informa-

tion to creditors, especially when creditors must be held

to have had knowledge both as to the existence and

whereabouts of an item claimed to be concealed.

In re Napco Mfg. Co., Inc. (D.Neb.) 72 F.

Supp. 555.

Thus far, the argument has been predicated upon the

knowledge of the creditors and of the Receiver prior to

the filing of the involuntary petition on May 7, 1953.

There is no evidence that the Trustee, after the date on

which he was appointed and qualified, as to which date

there was no evidence, did not have knowledge of all the

facts. In fact, not only did the Trustee not testify, but

the evidence on behalf of the defendants shows that

there was a disclosure of the facts (Br. p. 12, supra).

Before the crime of concealment may be committed,

the concealment must take place during the whole

course of the bankruptcy proceedings. No such evi-

dence appears here. See: Johfisori v. U. S. (1 Cir.) 163

Fed. 30.

In re Morrow (N.D. Cal.) 97 Fed. 574;

In re Hirsch (W.D. Tenn.) 96 Fed. 468;
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Gretsch v, U. S. (3 Cir.) 231 Fed. 57;

In re Hennehry (N.D. Iowa) 207 Fed. 882;

Johnson V. U. S. (1 Cir.) 163 Fed. 30.

In fact, the governmeut disclaimed any intention to

make such proof as to facts later than May 7, 1953, ex-

cept as to one item, the nature of which is not clear

(R. 167). Even if it be assumed, however, that disclo-

sure must be made within a reasonable time after the

Trustee is appointed, even that principle does not aid

the government. At no time did the goverimient prove

either that the possession of the funds or the property

was ever restored to the defendants, or either of them,

following the appointment of a Trustee, or that infor-

mation concerning such property was withheld from

tlie creditors or the Trustee either knowingly or fraud-

ulently (See Br. p. 54, infra) .

3. Mere negligent nondisclosure or even a preference

is not fraudulent concealment.

Assuming at the very worst that there was a careless

or negligent nondisclosure of any of the items which

are the subject of the counts involved, that is not the

equivalent of a knowing and fraudulent concealment.

In re Morrow (N.D. Cal.) 97 Fed. 574.

Furthermore, the most that can be claimed resulting

from the payment to Max T. Edwards or the transfer

to Edwards, Ltd., is that a preference was effected as

the result of the subsequent appointment of a Receiver

or Trustee. However, it is settled that a mere prefer-

ence is not fraudulent and is not the subject of unlaw-

ful concealment.

U. S. V. Alper (2 Cir.) 156 F.2d 222;
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Levinson v. U. S, (6 Cir.) 47 F.2d 451 (Use of

furniture to pay debts constitutes prefer-

ence but not concealment).

E. As to Count XIX involving the transfer of a cash reg-

ister, the evidence was also insufi&cient to show a

transfer *'in contemplation of a bankruptcy pro-

ceeding."

1. The evidence which was wholly circumstantial is con-

sistent with innocence and the jury could not properly

have found otherwise.

a. As to both defendants

Count XIX, unlike the remaining counts here in-

volved, charged a fraudulent transfer as distinguished

from a fraudulent concealment of a cash register. The

transfer was presumptively innocent and in good faith.

Chodkowski v. U. S. (7 Cir.) 194 Fed. 858. Not only

was there a failure to show possession or the conceal-

ment of this cash register, as hereinabove set forth, but

there was no direct evidence that the transfer was in

contemplation of bankruptcy. Such evidence as there

was was purely circumstantial. There was no evidence

of discussion, consideration or contemplation in fact

of bankruptcy at the time of the transfer [Attorney

Sharp testified that he wasn't even consulted by either

of the Edwards relative to bankruptcy prior to May 7,

1953 (R. 668) ]. It is true there was evidence of financial

difficulty and inability to pay and the fact that such in-

ability had grown greater; but, at the same time, the

evidence was that the company had always been under-

capitalized, had always been in financial difficulty be-

cause so undercapitalized and had always been depend-

ent upon credit and loans (See In re Servel (D.
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Idaho) 30 F.2d 102, also Br. p. 5, supra). There was

no evidence that prior to February 27, 1953, when an

attachment was issued against the assets of the Cali-

fornia corporation, anyone threatened bankruptcy (R.

668, 679) or that creditors were not cooperative. There

was no evidence that bankruptcy was expected in the

near future or at all when the transfer w^as made of the

cash register. That the transfer was made for reasons

entirely consistent with innocence appears from the un-

contradicted evidence that the transfer was merely part

of the program of closing down the Seattle store (the

concessions which were profitable were to continue) be-

cause of the store's unprofitable character and the un-

contradicted evidence that a continuance in the con-

ducting of the business, as well as expansion, was

sought, planned for and actually carried on (See Br.

p. 5, supra). Why else would Max Edw^ards have

continued to loan money to the corporation if he con-

templated its bankruptcy, loans being made by him as

late as February 13, 1953 (R. 772) ? The evidence did

not show any cause and effect relationship between the

transfer of the cash register and the subsequent bank-

ruptcy proceedings.

b. As to Max T. Edwards

The Government sought to show contemplation of

bankruptcy (possibly under the other counts for which

defendants were found not guilty) by offering in evi-

dence plaintiff's Ex. 40, being a letter dated May 15,

1953, and Exs. 41, 42, 43, 44, 45 and 46. This was cor-

respondence subsequent to the filing of the involuntary

petition in which Max T. Edwards sought to make a
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virtue out of necessity. He was explaining to a creditor

that "it was necessary to let the whole corporation go

by the board in order to abrogate the old contracts with

the department stores, but more especially in order to

kill the lease on the Seattle store." However, this ex-

planation was after an involuntary petition in bank-

ruptcy, not a volwntary petition, and was clearly con-

sistent with an attempt to salvage something from the

wreckage. If the letter had been written prior to bank-

ruptcy, especially if it had been written prior to Feb-

ruary 20, 1953, a different question would have existed

;

but having been written subsequent to May 7, 1953,

especially in light of the other circumstances, it is dif-

ficult to understand how such correspondence could

evidence a transfer of a cash register in contemplation

of bankruptcy which was not otherwise in fact contem-

plated or shown to have been contemplated. At worst,

there may have been a contemplation of insolvency or

operation by creditors or an operation by a state court

receiver. That, however, is not "contemplation" of

bankruptcy as that term is understood in the decisions.

The phrase "contemplation of bankruptcy" undoubt-

edly means that bankruptcy must he the impelling

cause of the transfer (R. 803-804) (See Conrad, Rubin

& Lesser v. Pender, 289 U.S. 472, 77 L.Ed. 1327, 53

S.Ct. 703, 705). Consequently, contemplation merely

of a state of insolvency is not enough (R. 804). In re

Hirsch (W.D. Tenn.) 96 Fed. 468, 477; In re Carmi-

chael (N.D. Iowa) 96 Fed. 594, 596; Jones v. Eoiv-

land, et al., 49 Mass. (8 Mete.) 377.

The courts point out in the above cases that one may

contemplate insolvency without contemplating bank-



54

ruptcy. The contemplation of insolvency, not of bank-

ruptcy, is the most that it can be fairly contended was

established in this case.

c. As to Gilbert Edwards

Furthermore, there was no showing that Gilbert Ed-

wards had any knowledge of or had anything to do

wuth the above correspondence. There was an entire ab-

sence of evidence that he contemplated the bankruptcy

of the corporation involved.

F. As to Count XIX, the evidence was also insufficient

to show a transfer '^with intent to defeat the bank-

ruptcy law.*^

1. There was no proof that either defendant had any

knowledge of the bankruptcy law or of any duty im-

posed upon them by law claimed to be violated.

This 'intent" implies a knowledge of the content of

the bankruptcy law or a knowledge of a duty imposed

thereby. The doctrine that ignorance of the law is no

defense to crime does not apply where willfulness is an

element of crime. Ignorance of a duty imposed by law

negatives willfulness in failure to perform that duty.

Yarhorough v. U. S, (4 Cir.) 230 P.2d 56, p. 61

;

Hargrove v. U. S, (5 Cir.) 67 F.2d 820;

U. S. V. Murdoch, 290 U.S. 389, 395, 396, 78

L.ed. 381, 54 S.Ct. 223.

In this case there is no evidence that either defend-

ant knew the content of the bankruptcy law, or any pro-

vision thereof or of a duty imposed thereby (R. 615).

Max T. Edwards was a Canadian subject. Further-

more, as to neither defendant was there any showing

that either had consulted their attorney or attorneys
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concerning possible bankruptcy. The evidence, indeed,

affirmatively showed that they had not (R. 668). There

was no showing that either defendant knew that in

transferring the cash register, they were violating any

duty imposed by law. Intent was thereby negatived.

Bahh V. U, S. (5 Cir.) 252 F.2d 702, 708;

U. S. V. One Buick, etc. (N.D. Ind.) 34 F.2d

318, 320.

2. Such proof as there was, was wholly circumstantial,

consistent with innocence, and the jury could not

properly have found otherwise.

There is no evidence that there was any discussion

or consideration or thought given to the transfer of

the cash register on or about February 20, 1953, as hav-

ing any bearing upon any possible bankruptcy because

there was no bankruptcy then involved or in contem-

plation. There was, therefore, no evidence of any in-

tent to defeat the bankruptcy law. The only evidence

is that the transfer was made as part of the plan to close

down the Seattle store. This was before there was any

litigation ; before there was any receiver ; before there

was any bankruptcy. It will be remembered that what

we have here is involuntary bankruptcy, not voluntary

bankruptcy. Had the bankruptcy been voluntary, it

might be argued that it was contemplated or that it was

intended to violate duties imposed by the bankruptcy

law. That is not the case here.

G. As to Count XIX, the evidence was insufficient and
judgment of acquittal should have been and should

now be ordered.

Summarizing appellants' position as to Count XIX,
the evidence was insufficient in that there was neither
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possession nor control in the defendants or either of

them of the cash register on and after the appointment

of the Trustee, such possession and control having gone

out of the bankrupt corporation to Edwards, Ltd., on

or about February 20, 1953, the latter corporation being

charged with the purchase price thereof ; there was no

concealment in fact by the knowing or fraudulent with-

holding of information concerning the cash register,

and there was no showing that the Trustee or the credi-

tors were ignorant of the transfer or the circumstances

thereof ; there was no showing that the bankruptcy was

contemplated at the time of the transfer or that bank-

ruptcy was the impelling cause of the transfer or even

a factor motivating the transfer so as to justify the

claim that the transfer was made in contemplation of

bankruptcy; at best if there was a contemplation of

anything other than the contemplation of the closing of

the unprofitable Seattle store, it was a contemplation

of nothing more than continued operation of the prof-

itable concessions even under a slow-pay basis as for-

merly, or a contemplation of a possible operation under

the supervision of creditors, or at the very most a pos-

sible state court receiver ; finally there was no showing

that the transfer was made with intent to defeat the

bankruptcy law, there being no evidence that either de-

fendant had knowledge of the content of the bank-

ruptcy law or any provision thereof or of a duty im-

posed thereby claimed to be violated by the defendants.

There was a transfer, it is true, but under circum-

stances that were entirely innocent and entirely con-

sistent with innocence. The elements of "knowing and

fraudulent" and "in contemplation of bankruptcy"
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and ''with intent to defeat the bankruptcy law," not

having been proved, judgment of acquittal should have

been ordered on Count XIX and should now be ordered.

Earn v. U. S. (9 Cir.) 158 F.2d 568;

U. S. V. Gardner (7 Cir.) 171 F.2d 753.

H. As to Max T. Edwards, the evidence was also insuffi-

cient to prove venue.

Each of the counts charged Max T. Edwards with

having violated the statute involved in Seattle, Wash-

ington. There is no evidence that any affirmative act of

concealment, that is secreting or even withholding of

information, took place in Seattle, Washington. True,

the money to repay his advances was paid to Max T.

Edwards or delivered to Edwards, Ltd., by Edwards

Shaver Departments, Incorporated, apparently by

checks mailed from Seattle. True also, the cash regis-

ter was shipped from Seattle to Vancouver to Edwards,

Ltd., by the Bekins Transfer Company. But the mail-

ing of these checks and the shipping of the cash regis-

ter did not constitute the crime of concealment. There

could be no fraudulent concealment until the Trustee

was appointed some time later. If we assumed that the

Trustee was appointed on May 7, 1953, there is no evi-

dence that Max T. Edwards, either by affirmative act or

by inaction, did anything in Seattle, Washington,

thereafter with reference to the items complained of.

Thus there is no evidence that he withheld any infor-

mation from the Trustee in Seattle, Washington, or

made any false statement or false claim in Seattle,

Washington. There is no evidence that Max T. Edwards

himself took possession of the cash register in Seattle,
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Washington. Edwards, Ltd., took possession of the cash

register in Vancouver, British Columbia. If therefore

there were a fraudulent concealment, such concealment

took place in Vancouver, B. C, and not in Seattle.

Under these circumstances, there was a failure of proof

of an essential element, namely venue.

Venue must be proved as an essential element of the

offense charged. Rachmil v. U. S. (9 Cir.) 43 F.2d 878.

A motion for acquittal raises the question as to whether

venue has been proved.

U. S. V. Browne (7 Cir.) 225 F.2d 751, 755;

U. S. V. Jones (7 Cir.) 174 F.2d 746, 748.

It is submitted that the defendant Max T. Edwards'

motion for judgment of acquittal should also have been

granted for failure to prove venue^an essential ele-

ment of the offenses charged.

I. Insufl&ciency of all the counts involved as to Max T.

Edwards—Summary

The government's evidence was insufficient as to the

concealment of money counts, namely Counts III,

VI, IX, XII, XV and XVIII, and as to the cash reg-

ister concealment Count XX

:

1. Because the government failed to prove posses-

sion or control of the items involved on and after the

appointment of the Trustee. The money had been used

in December, 1952, and January, 1953, to repay Max
T. Edwards for his advances so that he in turn could

and did repay bank loans incurred by him to raise

funds with which to advance to the corporation, to pay

life insurance premiums, and to assist his wife in a

small way with an investment of hers. As to the cash
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register, legal possession and control had passed to Ed-

wards, Ltd., about February 20, 1953. Any control of

Max T. Edwards thereafter was on behalf of Edwards,

Ltd., a separate corporation with a life and creditors of

its own. The cash register was therefore not property

belonging to the estate of the bankrupt and could not

therefore be the subject of concealment on or after the

appointment of the Trustee. The government failed to

prove when the Trustee was appointed and qualified.

2. Because the government failed to prove that there

was a knowing or fraudulent withholding of informa-

tion concerning the items involved. The government

failed to prove in that connection that the creditors or

the Trustee were ignorant of the facts. Assuming at

best that Max T. Edwards negligently failed to disclose

or received an unlawful preference created because of

the subsequent appointment of a receiver or Trustee

within four months after the payment of his advances,

such conduct does not constitute the offense of conceal-

ment.

3. As to Count XIX, the claimed fraudulent transfer

of the cash register count, in addition to deficiencies in

the government's evidence summarized in subpara-

graphs 1 and 2 above, the government failed to prove

that the transfer was "in contemplation of a bank-

ruptcy proceeding." The government's evidence did not

negative either the possibility or probability that the

transfer was for a proper purpose such as a transfer

for value in connection with closing down the unprofit-

able Seattle store operations. The likelihood of this

proper purpose was confirmed by defendants' evidence

as to what transpired in fact. The government therefore
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did not establish that the impelling cause of the trans-

fer or even a substantial reason for the transfer was "in

contemplation of a bankruptcy proceeding. '

' At best, if

any contemplation was established, it was either a con-

templation of closing the unprofitable Seattle store but

continuing with the profitable concession business of

the various department stores, or in contemplation of

insolvency or continued insolvency or in contemplation

of operation by creditors, or at the very most the con-

templation of the appointment of a state court receiver.

These are not equivalent to a contemplation of a bank-

ruptcy proceeding.

4. Again as to Count XIX, the government's evi-

dence did not establish that the transfer was "with in-

tent to defeat the bankruptcy law" because it failed tc^

show that the defendants either knew the content of the

bankruptcy law or any provision thereof or of a duty

imposed thereby. Without such knowledge, the neces-

sary intent could not be established. The transfer for

value in connection with the closing down operations of

the Seattle store shows the transfer to have been con-

sistent with innocence on this phase of the matter, that

is, that the transfer was with no intent to defeat the

bankrupcy law but rather to carry out a proper and in-

nocent purpose.

5. The government's evidence failed to establish that

the concealment of the funds or property complained

of took place in Seattle, Washington, as charged by the

counts of the indictment. Assuming that there was a

concealment, it took place in Vancouver, British Co-

lumbia.

For each of the foregoing reasons, the evidence was
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insufficient as to each of the counts involved, and the

motion for acquittal should have been granted and

should now be ordered.

J. Insufficiency of all the counts involved as to Gilbert

Edwards—Summary

1. The evidence was insufficient as to Gilbert Ed-

wards with respect to both the money counts and the

cash register counts for the reasons 1, 2, 3, and 4 sum-

marized in subparagraph I dealing with the insuffi-

ciency of the evidence as to Max T. Edwards. An addi-

tional circumstance applicable to Gilbert Edwards is

that, unlike Max T. Edwards, he owned no stock in the

bankrupt corporations so as to benefit from any of the

transactions complained of. The likelihood of his inno-

cence is therefore increased, and the burden of the gov-

ernment in applying the rule that circumstantial evi-

dence must be inconsistent with innocence is corre-

spondingly increased.

2. As to Count XXI charging concealment of a port-

able adding machine solely by Gilbert Edwards, the

government's evidence was insufficient, (a) There was

no evidence that Gilbert Edwards had either possession

or control of the portable adding machine at the time

of the appointment of the Trustee or thereafter and the

government failed to negative the possibility or prob-

ability that such possession and control had properly

passed from Gilbert Edwards to say another officer of

the corporation such as Max T. Edwards. This possi-

bility and probability was actually proved in the de-

fendants' case, (b) There was no evidence that the

creditors or Trustee were not fully aware of the facts
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concerning the delivery of the adding machine so that

there was neither a knowing or fraudulent withholding

of information. Defendants' evidence established af-

firmatively that there had been a disclosure as to what

happened to the fixtures and equipment and disposition

of funds (R. 732-733). The government failed to prove

that the conduct of Gilbert Edwards with respect to

the portable adding machine was not inconsistent with

innocence so as to constitute the crime of fraudulent

concealment. Judgment of acquittal should have been

ordered below and should now be ordered (See Br. p.

39, supra).

Specification of Error No. 4

11.

The District Court Prejudicially Erred in Submitting to

the Jury Counts of the Indictment on Which the Evi-

dence Was Not Sufficient, Assuming Arguendo that

the Evidence Was Sufficient as to Other Count or

Counts of the Indictment. Accordingly, the Judgment
Should Be Reversed and a New Trial Ordered.

A. The defendants were prejudiced thereby warranting

a new trial.

It may be assumed arguendo that the court may re-

verse as to some counts and affirm as to others where

the evidence is clearly segregated and compartmental-

ized, so that one can say that particular e^ddence is ap-

plicable to a particular count. If, however, there is sub-

mitted to the jury counts as to which the evidence is in-

sufficient to permit a verdict of guilty, such submission

may prejudicially affect the defendants as to other

counts as to which it may be assumed arguendo the evi-

dence is sufficient. The prejudicial error involved here

is of several kinds.
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1. Evidence which would not be admissible in the ab-

sence of the particular count is admitted with prejudi-

cial consequences to the defendants as to other counts.

2. The assumption by the jury that there is evidence

sufficient to convict the defendants of the crime charged

when the assumption is unwarranted because of the in-

sufficiency of the evidence.

3. The inadmissible evidence and the unwarranted

assumption of the sufficiency of the evidence may and

do prejudice the jury in the consideration of other

counts of the indictment as to which the evidence may

be prima facie sufficient but as to which the jury if un-

prejudiced by these inadmissible items might draw con-

clusions of innocence.

These items of prejudice are all the more detrimental

in a case of this kind involving 21 counts. The same

circumstantial evidence was used as background mate-

rial for all the counts (See Br. p. 2, supra). In some

instances evidence was offered as to particular counts

or as to a particular defendant (R. 129-130, 131, 136,

244, 246). Later when the court instructed the jury,

the instructions were long and abstract. It is impossible

for any jury, including the jury here involved, to re-

member what evidence was offered as to what counts

and as to what defendant and how to apply oral instruc-

tions of a lengthy and abstract nature to the particular

facts of this case as to 21 counts. This is all the more

true since the oral instructions do not go into the jury

room for study and consideration. What has hereto-

fore been said is made even worse by the erroneous ad-

mission of certain evidence and the erroneous exclu-

sion of certain evidence (Spec. Err. 5, 6, 7, 8, 9).
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When therefore the jury found the defendants guil-

ty on a number of counts as to which the evidence was

really insufficient (see Br. p. 30, supra) ^ it is difficult

to resist the conclusion that the jury were adversely af-

fected in their consideration of other counts assuming

arguendo that the evidence was sufficient as to these.

The jury might well have used evidence applicable to

a count as to which the evidence was insufficient and

inferences and conclusions based thereon to convict the

defendants as to counts on which there was at least a

close question as to whether guilt existed or as to which

the evidence may have been insufficient.

One cannot safely say that had the defendants been

tried on one, two or three counts only, uninfluenced by

the mass of evidence which would then have been inad-

missible, or as to which the evidence was insufficient,

that the result would have been the same (See also

Spec. Err. 10) (Br. p. 72, infra).

If the error as to one count (whether in the admis-

sion of evidence or because the insufficiency of the evi-

dence precludes submission thereof to the jury) preju-

dicially affects the count on which the jury has found a

defendant guilty, a new trial should be granted.

U. S. V. Perlstein (3 Cir.) 120 F.2d 276, 283;

U. S. V. Koch (2 Cir.) 113 F.2d 982

;

U. S. V. Groves (2 Cir.) 122 F.2d 87, 91;

People V. Adler, 73 N.Y. Supp. 841.

Furthermore, unless it affirmatively appears that the

error was insubstantial and therefore not prejudicial,

a new trial should be granted (See Br. p. 29, supra,

and p. 72, infra).
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in.

The District Court Prejudicially Erred in Overruling

Objections Interposed on Behalf of the Appellants

and Each of Them to Evidence Adduced on Behalf

of the Government.

A. Specification of Error No. 5; in admitting Plaintiflf's

Ex.24 (R. 353)

Plaintiff's Ex. 24 is a letter from Edwards Shaver

Departments, Incorporated, to Mr. Cosby, Receiver,

signed by Max T. Edwards, the letter being dated

March 27, 1953, demanding the return of general ledg-

ers of "my California corporation (Edwards Shaver

Departments, Inc.) along with all money, inventory

sheets, check registers, general paper and mail." The

letter requests the delivery of these items to his attor-

neys, attention : Seth W. Morrison.

The evidence showed that Mr. Cosby was receiver

only of the Washington corporation and not of the

California corporation. It was, therefore, in the judg-

ment of the corporations and Max T. Edwards' attor-

ney, improper for Mr. Cosby to hold possession of the

California corporation papers. Obviously acting under

the attorney's advice (his own evidence confimied this)

(R. 586), Max T. Edwards demanded that Mr. Cosby

surrender up papers improperly in his possession. This

could have no possible bearing upon the counts of the

indictment either as to Max T. Edwards or certainly as

to Gilbert Edwards, who was not shown to have had

anything to do with the matter. Its only effect was to

prejudice the defendants as if there was something

improper about the demand. Yet, any lawyer would

have advised Mr. Edwards to do exactly what he did do
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without dreaming that taking such advice would in

an>"wise be evidence of anything improper.

See In re Topper (3 Cir.) 229 F.2d 691, holding that

the advice of counsel may be an excuse for an inaccu-

rate or false oath so as not to preclude a discharge in

bankruptcy. The admission of Ex. 24 was especially

prejudicial here as indicating to the jury an effort to

suppress evidence (even by Gilbert Edwards). See

McWhorter v. U. S. (6 Cir.) 281 Fed. 119.

B. Specification of Error No. 6; in admitting Plaintifif's

Ex. 12 (R. 149)

Plaintiff's Exhibit 12 is a check dated February 12,

1953, b}^ Edwards Shaver Departments, Incorporated,

signed by Max T. Edwards, payable to Gilbert Ed-

wards in the sum of $2,000. The government's own evi-

dence showed that Gilbert Edwards had lent Edwards

Shaver Departments, Incorporated, $1800 August 5,

1952 (R. 308, 347, 348), which smn was owing on the

date in question. The withdrawal represented a repay-

ment without interest plus a small advance prior even

to the meeting with creditors of February 27, 1953. The

innocent character of this transaction is evidenced by

the fact that as early as January, 1952, consideration

had been given to expansion of the business by the in-

corporation of two companies which were, in fact, in-

corporated under legal advice (R. 482-483, 603, 655,

656) of two reputable attorneys about February 9,

1953 (PI. Exs. 25 and 26). Gilbert Edwards was the

o\\nier of record pending a detei*mination (w^hich was

never made) as to which of the Edwards brothers

should become stockholders and in what amount (R.
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674) . In order to provide these corporations with funds,

Gilbert Edwards was paid $2,000, so that he received

$200 more than he had lent the corporation if we ignore

the interest to which he would normally be entitled on

any loan to the corporation. No count charged that there

was anything improper about this $2,000 payment to

Gilbert Edwards. Counts XIII, XIV and XV involve

a sum of $2,000, but not the $2,000 with which we are

presently concerned. Just how this evidence could have

any bearing upon any of the counts involved, it is dif-

ficult to see. The transaction was an entirely innocent

one and nothing improper was shown about it. Gilbert

Edwards, at the time of the payment of the $2,000, was

still working for the Washington corporation ; still re-

ceiving a salary of $350 a month, plus expenses, and

an advance of $200 at best over his interest-free loan of

$1800 could easily have been charged against his salary

and expense account so that the corporation was fully

protected at all times. Just because Gilbert Edwards

received $2,000 (fully disclosed on records) at a time

when he was owed $1800 under the circumstances

above, could not possibly have any bearing upon con-

cealment involved in the money counts. Those moneys

had been paid out sometime prior to the $2,000 payment

to Gilbert Edwards in repayment of Max Edwards' ad-

vances. Nor could it have any bearing upon the

transfer of the cash register as having been fraudu-

lently made because that transfer, as has been pointed

out above, was made as part of the closing operations

of the Seattle store and for which Edwards, Ltd., was

charged. It would have no bearing upon the conceal-

ment of the adding machine because it had no connec-



68

tion therewith and no rational inference could be drawn

from the $2,000 payment that could constitute proof of

such concealment. Yet, to offer this evidence, especially

in connection with other evidence showing a purchase

by Shaveraids, Inc., of receivership assets at a sale (R.

371-372) as though there were something improper

about that, too, could only have a prejudicial effect by

the use of irrelevant and immaterial evidence. This is

one of a series of items, the cumulative effect of which

apparently proved prejujiicial.

If the Government contends that Ex. 12 was admis-

sible on a count as to which the defendants were held

not guilty, nevertheless, this inadmissible evidence was

prejudicial as to the counts on which the defendants

were found guilty, and a new trial should be ordered.

This is all the more true in this case because the

Government on occasion would offer its evidence as to

a particular count or as to a particular defendant, but

on other occasions would offer its e^ddence generally

(R. 129-30, 131, 136, 244, 246).

C. Specification of Error No. 7; in permitting the gov-

ernment's witness, Benjamin Kendall Cosby, State

Court Receiver, to testify concerning the sale of as-

sets of Edwards Shaver Departments, Incorporated

(the bankrupt corporation) to Shaveraids, Inc.,

owned by Gilbert Edwards (R. 361).

It is difficult to understand how evidence that Shav-

eraids, Inc., purchased assets of the State Court Re-

ceiver at sale could have any possible bearing upon the

counts of the indictment. How could it possibly prove

concealment of the funds paid out the previous Decem-

ber and January? How could it possibly have any
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bearing upon the sale of the cash register to the Cana-

dian corporation? How could it possibly have any

bearing upon the claimed concealment of the adding

machine ? It was merely a step in the course of the re-

ceivership. The testimony had the effect of making it

appear that there was something improper about the

sale and from which the jury could infer something

improper about the action with respect to the other

counts of the indictment. The testimony was especially

immaterial as well as prejudicial since it was the posi-

tion of the Government that the defendants had not

been guilty of any concealment from the Receiver (R.

169).

D. Specification of Error No. 8; in permitting Govern-

ment witnesses to testify concerning the amount re-

ceived by general creditors percentagewise from
either the State Court Receiver or the Federal Court

Trustee in Bankruptcy or both (R. 249-251, 99-

100).

Since it was independently established that the as-

sets were insufficient to pay creditors at the time of

the filing of the petition for bankruptcy, it is difficult to

understand how evidence of the percentage received by

general creditors from the state court receiver or the

Trustee in bankruptcy could properly be evidence of

"the intent of the defendants in making the transfer

alleged" (R. 99). The amount paid by the receiver and

Tnistee is determined by expenses of administration as

well as assets available and neither of the appellants

had any control over the amount of such expenses or

over the percentage payable to general creditors. The

amount received has nothing to do with "intent." The
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only purpose served by this testimony of the percentage

paid was to prejudice the jury by a matter not mate-

rial or relevant to the issues. This evidence only served

to enhance the prejudice created by the admission of

other improperly received evidence in light of inade-

quate instructions from the court (See Br. p. 73,

infra) .

Specification of Error No. 9

IV.

The District Court Prejudicially Erred in Sustaining the

Government's Objection to Admission of Defend-

ants' Ex. A-22 (R. 501).

Defendants' Ex. A-22 (Brief, Appendix B) is a ^vrit-

ten accounting of the sums of money described in the

counts of the indictment showing where the money

came from and what happened to the money. The trial

court refused to permit the introduction of Ex. A-22 in

evidence in the absence of a stipulation permitting its

introduction, because the court believed he had no dis-

cretion in the matter of its introduction.

The rule, however, is that such an exhibit may be ad-

mitted in the discretion of the court. Exhibits summar-

izing testimony have been admitted in criminal cases.

Eggletonv. U. S. (6 Cir.) 227 F.2d 493;

Keller v. President, et al., 41 Del. 471, 24 A.2d

539.

See also

:

32C.J.S. 592;

22 C.J. 896.

The court was, therefore, in error in excluding the

exhibit and refusing to exercise the discretion which he

had to permit its introduction.
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It might be contended that since the evidence of

which Ex. A-22 is a summary had already been testified

to orally, no prejudice resulted from the refusal to per-

mit the written summary to be placed in evidence. The

prejudice, however, is obvious. No jury could possibly

keep in mind the details of the accounting. Unless the

jury had before it in the jury room a written summary

of the accounting evidence, the jury was compelled to

speculate on what the evidence was. The evidence was

highly material because it had a direct bearing on the

counts of the indictment concerned with the accounting

testimony. With the accounting testimony before them

in comprehensible form, as set out in Ex. A-22, the

jury might well have recalled the intricate accounting

evidence and concluded that the Trustee in Bank-

ruptcy had adequate notice of the withdrawals and the

reasons therefor and could not possibly have contended

successfully that the information had been concealed

from him. We cannot know what the jury relied on in

coming to the conclusion that concealment had taken

place. We know from elsewhere in this brief that the

evidence was insufficient as a matter of law on which

to predicate a charge of concealment. The jury, having

found the defendants guilty on money concealment

counts, might well have been influenced by that fact on

the transfer Count XIX or the concealment Counts

XX and XXI dealing with the adding machine and

cash register. Had the court exercised the discretion it

had, to admit the exhibit, the result of the case might

have been different. The refusal to exercise such discre-

tion, in the mistaken notion that no such discretion ex-

isted, is, therefore, prejudicial error.
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If there is any question about the prejudicial effect

of the non-admission of this exhibit, or of the erroneous

admission of evidence (Spec. Err. 5, 6, 7, 8) the rule

announced in U. S. v. Andolschek (2 Cir.) 142 F.2d 503,

506, should be remembered:

"We cannot, of course, know, as the record

stands, how prejudicial the exclusion may have

been, but that uncertainty alone requires a new
trial ; for it does not affirmatively appear that the

error was insubstantial within the meaning of 28

U.S.C.A. §391."

See also Br. p. 29, supra.

Specification of Error No. 10

V.

The District Court prejudicially erred in denying appel-

lants' respective motions for new trial filed March

19, 1958, pursuant to Rules 29 and 33 of the Federal

Rules of Criminal Procedure, such denial constituting

an abuse of discretion.

We are aware of the rule that a motion for new trial

in the interest of justice (Rule 33) is granted or denied

in the discretion of the District Court, and the exercise

of such discretion is ordinarily not reviewable.

Balestreri v. U. S. (9 Cir.) 224 F.2d 915, 916.

However, there is language suggesting that the ruling

of the District Court is reviewable if there is abuse of

discretion.

Steiner v. U. S. (9 Cir.) 229 F.2d 745, 749.

Not wishing, by not complaining of the action of the

District Court in denying the motion for new trial, to

infer acquiescence—and bearing in mind the possibil-

ity that review is appropriate where there has been an
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abuse of discretion—the action of the District Court

has, therefore, been assigned as error (See also Spec.

Err. 4, Br. p. 62, supra).

It will be borne in mind that evidence concerning

the essential elements of the crimes charged, namely,

"knowing and fraudulent," "contemplation of bank-

ruptcy," and "intent to defeat the bankruptcy law"

was purely circumstantial. It will be remembered that

there are in this case demonstrable hypotheses of inno-

cense wholly inconsistent with guilt. It will be remem-

bered that the jury had to consider twenty-one counts

in an involved case and had to remember what evidence

was applicable to all counts, what evidence was offered

as to one defendant and not against the other, and what

evidence was applicable only to particular counts. It

will be remembered that particular instructions given

by the court were quite abstract and voluminous and it

will be remembered that the jury does not take such in-

structions for study and application in the jury room.

The omission of pertinent instructions on the entire

record becomes all the more serious, especially in the

case where the evidence as to guilt is extremely close.

Here, the jury was inadequately instructed on the sig-

nificance and nature of control and possession in rela-

tion to the counts on which the defendants were con-

victed charging concealment (R. 807) (Br. p. 38,

supra). Furthermore, the juiy was not instructed at

all upon the significance of the so-called presumption

or inference of continued possession on which the gov-

ernment relied below in taking the case to the jury (R.

441). Still further, there was an entire absence of in-
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structions on the significance of the advice of legal

counsel as bearing upon the question as to whether any

action taken was taken in good faith, as distinguished

from being taken knowingly and fraudulently. It will

be recalled that the evidence showed that Mr. Alexan-

der Charles Sharp, a British Columbia attorney, and

Mr. Gerald DeGarmo, a Seattle attorney, the legal ad-

visers of the corporations involved, were actually in

attendance during the discussions and meetings with

creditors. Mr. Sharp testified to his participation in the

activities of the corporation and of the defendants.

Since the issue of good faith was a vital issue in the

case, had the jury been instructed that following the

advice of an attorney and acting with his knowledge

and approval negatives or may negative claimed know-

ing and fraudulent conduct, the result might well have

been different. Still even further, there was no instruc-

tion that ignorance of a duty imposed by law negatived

intent to violate the law. The instructions given were

inadequate (R. 806, 807, 808) (Br. p. 54, supra).

[They also erroneously assumed the Trustee was ap-

pointed May 7, 1953 (R. 807)]. While it is true that

the defendants did not request the instructions nor

take exception to the failure of the court to instruct on

these four points, neverthless, the failure of the jury

to have those legal principles review^ed and called to

the jury's attention may well, in view of their impor-

tance, have constituted a substantial factor in the

jury's verdict of guilty.

Assuming that the failure to instruct the jury on

these important matters is not independently assign-

able as error (See, however, Tatum v. U. S. (C.A.D.C.)
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190 F.2d 612 ; Stephenson v. U. S. (9 Cir.) 211 F.2d 702,

705)/ nevertheless, they are considerations which

should properly be taken into account on a motion for

new trial to prevent the miscarriage of justice. A jury

should understand the case. U. S. v. Di Matteo (3 Cir.)

169 F.2d 798.

The errors complained of invite a careful evaluation

of the matters occurring at trial, the necessity for which

evaluation is spurred by the severity of the sentences

imposed on each defendant. Although it is recognized

that the severity of sentences has been held not review-

able here (Kachnic v. U. S. (9 Cir.) 53 F.2d 312, 315;

Allred v. U. S. (9 Cir.) 146 F.2d 193) and for that rea-

son is not assigned as error, and, although the Dis-

trict Court, under F.E.C.P. 35, may reduce the sen-

tences imposed in the event of affirmance of judgment,

nevertheless, at this stage, the severity of the sentences

may well alert the Court, in the interests of justice, to

make certain that error was not committed. It is diffi-

cult to understand how, under the evidence in this case

showing the repayment of admitted advances to Max

T. Edwards (Br. p. 6, supra), any three-year sen-

tence could possibly be justified. It is even more diffi-

cult to understand how, with respect to Grilbert Ed-

wards, who benefited not at all from these repayments,

any sentence of two years could be justified. Further-

more, with respect to the used cash register, valued at

$126, or with the portable adding machine, the value

of which is not in the record (had the value been suffi-

T We do not waive the benefit of the Rule 52 (F.R.C.P.) permitting plain

errors or defects affecting substantial rights to be noticed although they

were not brought to the attention of the court.
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ciently substantial, the government would undoubtedly

have proved it), it is difficult to understand how a three-

year and two-year sentence could be justified.

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that judgment should be

reversed as to each defendant and as to each count in-

volved with directions to enter judgment of acquittal,

or alternatively to order a new trial.

Respectfully submitted,

Preston, Thorgrimson & Horowitz
Charles Horowitz

Attorneys for Appellants.

1900 Northern Life Tower,

Seattle 1, Washington.
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APPENDIX A

Offered
and

Offered
and

EXHIBITS Identified Received Rejected

PI. Ex. 1 101 779

2 107 736

3 108 115

4 110

5 120 120

6 128 128

7 137

8 138 139

9 140 140

10 141 142

11 143 145

12 145 149

13 150 150

14 151 151

15 156

16 156

17 175 179

18 180 191

19 201

20 204 204

21 206 208

22 210 213

23 210 214

24 345 353

25 358 382

26 359 383

27 376 379

28 384 387

29 388 390

30 390 391

31 391 391
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Offered Offered
and and

EXHIBITS Identified Received Rejected

32 392 394

33 394 394

34 395 395

35 396 398

36 397 398

37 397 412

38 404 405

39 414 414

40 561 561

41 567 573

42 568 573

43 569 573

44 569 573

45 570 573

46 572 573

47 590 645

48 641 643

49 698

50 753 755
Deft. Ex. A-1 217 644

A-2 269 271

A-3 271 271
A-4 296 297
A-5 313 315
A-6 313 315
A-7 314 315
A-8 314 315
A-9 431 432
A-10 454 455
A-11 454 456
A-12 460 460
A-13 464 466
A-14 464 465
A-15 473 474
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Offered
and

Offered
and

EXHIBITS Identified Received Rejected

A-16 4:11 477

A-17 488 488

A-18 490 491

A-19 490 491

A-20 494 495

A-21 494 495

A-22 496 501

A-23 504 644

A-24 505 644

A-25 511 513

A-26 514 515

A-27 518 519

A-28 527 644

A-29 616 617

A-30 622 622

A-31 627 629

A-32 627 630

A-33 627 632

A-34 720 721



80

APPENDIX B
Cause 49562
Defendant Exhibit A-

Rejected

Max T. Edwards

Schedule of Disbursements of Principal Funds Transferred fn

Seattle, Washington, December, 1952-January, 1953

*Initials

1952 9320

12/15/52 P.B.-M.E. $4,000.00 Prev. Bal. $267.50

9320
$3,875.00

12/19 $ 500.00 Cash
12/20 2,000.00 G.A. and to Martin Lt

12/22 1,000.00 Mfg. Life Ins. Co.

12/30 P.B.-Ed. Ltd. $15,000.00

12/31 Ed. Ltd. to 9320 $16,000.00

12/31 9320 $16,021.92 Imp. Bank
12/30 P.B.-Ed. Ltd. $5,000.00

12/31 Ed. Ltd. $5,000.00 Imp. Bank
12/30 P.B.-M.E. (9320) $7,500.00

12/31 M.E.-B.E. $2,144.54 end. to and depoi

ited Ed. Ltd.

12/31 M.E.-Ed. Ltd. $ 874.63 and deposited

12/31 M.E.-P.E. $ 430.44 end. and deposit

Ed. Ltd.

Deposit $4,000.00 from Ed. Ltd.

1/2 M.E.-Martin Ltd. $8,000.00

1/5 M.E.-Martin Ltd. 687.94

1953
1/12 P.B.- 9320 Prior balance 21

2,02]

1/5 M.E.-Martin Ltd. $1,000.00

1/5 M.E.-B.E. 1,000.00

1/22 P.B.-B.E. 1/22/53 $3,000.00 to Imp. Bank
•Denotations

P.E. = Peoples National Bank of Washington
Imp. Bank = Imperial Bank of Canada in Vancouver
M.E. = Max Edwards
B.E. = Bert Edwards
P.E. = Paul Edwards
Ed. Ltd. =: Edwards Limited in Vancouver

9320= joint account of Max and Goldie Edwards, his wife

(See Brief p. 70-72)



81

APPENDIX C

Excerpt from 18 U.S.C, Section 152

"§152. Concealment of assets; false oaths and claims;

bribery

"Whoever knowingly and fraudulently conceals

from the receiver, custodian, trustee, marshal, or other

officer of the court charged with the control or custody

of property, or from creditors in any bankruptcy pro-

ceeding, any property belonging to the estate of a bank-

rupt ; or
* *

'

' Whoever, while an agent or officer of any person or

corporation, and in contemplation of a bankruptcy

proceeding by or against such person or corporation, or

with intent to defeat the bankruptcy law, knowingly

and fraudulently transfers or conceals any of the prop-

erty of such person or corporation ; or

« * *

"Shall be fined not more than $5,000 or imprisoned

not more than five years, or both.
'

'




